# Ozark Mountain Parent/Student Handbook



Home of the Bears 2025-2026

### INTRODUCTION AND HANDBOOK PURPOSE

A quality public school education requires the administration, the staff, the students, and the parents to work together with respect and common purpose. This handbook is a written statement of what all people may expect at Ozark Mountain High School. Together, we will work for a quality education for every child. The contributors to this handbook have made every effort to make this handbook as complete as possible. In the event any action or occurrence may fall outside the material covered in this handbook, the administration and staff will respond based on the same principles used to build this handbook:

- 1. All persons shall be safe at all times.
- 2. All persons will be respected and behave reasonably.
- 3. All persons will comply with all applicable laws.
- 4. All persons shall work diligently to provide a quality education for all children.
- 5. No thing and no one will disrupt or interfere with any of the above goals. All persons are encouraged to ask any questions they may have about this handbook.

Any comments you may have to improve this handbook are welcome

### OZARK MOUNTAIN SCHOOL DISTRICT BOARD OF EDUCATION

Travis Freeman - President
Andy McCutcheon - Vice President
Travis Dixon - Secretary & Disbursing Officer
Allen Glidewell - Legislative Liaison
Donald Morris
Bart Beaver
Jason Smith

### OZARK MOUNTAIN SCHOOL DISTRICT ADMINISTRATION

Mr. Jess Knapp, Superintendent: 250 South Hwy 65, St. Joe, AR 72675 Phone: (870) 439-2218 E-mail: **jknapp@omsd.k12.ar.us** 

Mrs. Melissa King, Federal Programs/Student Accountability, 300 School Street, Western Grove, AR 72685 Phone: (870) 429-5218 Email: mking@omsd.k12.ar.us St. Joe, AR 7267 Phone: (870) 439-2218 Email: ncunningham@omsd.k12.ar.us

Mr. Jeri Redding, <del>Curriculum and Professional Development Coordinator</del>, Principal St. Joe Elementary, St. Joe, AR 72675 and Bruno-Pyatt Elementary Everton, AR Hwy 125 S, 72633 Email: <u>jredding@omsd.k12.ar.us</u>

Mrs. Jeff Treadwell, Special Education Director, <a href="mailto:itreadwell@omsd.k12.ar.us">itreadwell@omsd.k12.ar.us</a>

Mr. Edwin Butterworth, Principal Ozark Mountain High School/ Western Grove Elementary, Western Grove, AR. 72685 ebutterworth@omsd.k12.ar.us

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

REFERENCE	
DISTRICT SECTION	
AAA	77
Absences	39
Accidents	17
Appearance and Dress Code	43
Athletics and Other Events	17
Athletic Physicals and Insurance	18
Bills and Finances	16
Birth Certificates/ Immunization	9
Breakfast/Lunches	18
Bullying	64
Care of School Grounds	23
Challenge of Instructional/Supplemental Materials	33
Closed Campus	24
Communicable Disease and Parasite	38
Compulsory Attendance Requirements	9
Contact with Students on Campus	12
Curriculum Information	29
Dances	24
Deliveries to Students	24
Disciplinary Options	45
Disciplinary Procedures	44
Discipline of Students with a Disability	71
Discipline Policies and Student Conduct	44
District Website	31
Distribution of Literature	35
Due Process	72
Emergency Drills	17
Energy Drinks	24
Entrance Requirements	10
Equal Educational Opportunities	24
Equivalence Between Schools	29
Expulsion	47
FERPA	25

Gang-Related Activity	56
Gifted and Talented Education Program	74
OMSD Grievance Procedure	73
Hall Passes	25
Health Screenings	36
Home Schooling Policy	76
Homework Policy	29
Insurance	25
Lockers	16
Lost and Found	25
McKinney-Vento Act Appendix C	96
Megan's Law	31
Military Recruitment	20
Office Hours	15
Dispute and Complaint Resolution Procedure	73
Operation Stay-In-School	42
Out-Of-School Suspension	46
Ozark Mountain Parental Involvement Policy	16
Permanent Records	12,
	28
Personal Items	26
Pledge of Allegiance	26
Possession/ Distribution of Drugs or Alcohol	55
Possession of Electronic Devices	21
Possession of any Firearm or any Other Weapon	54
Prohibited Student Conduct	48
Publications Policy	34
Religion in the Schools	13
Residence Requirements	9
School Bus Passenger Safety and Conduct/Bus Behavior	17
School Calendar	8
School Choice	26
School Organizations	87
School Transfer Policy	29
Search and Seizure	16
Selection/ Inspection of Instructional Materials	35
Semester Test Policy	26
Sexual Harassment	56
Social Media and Media Posting	18
Special Education – Curriculum and Graduation Requirement	

Student Attendance	39
Student Chemical Screen-Testing Program Appendix D	98,
	101
Student Handbook Signature Form Appendix E	102
Student Illness	37
Student Electronic Device and Internet Use Agreement Appendix B	94
Student Medications	37
Student Participation in Surveys	14
Students' Records/Directory Information	11,
	27
Students with Special Health Care Needs	36
Tardy Policy	42
Telephone Calls	15
Title I Parent's Right to Know Letter- Appendix A	91
Title IX	26
Tobacco Products	55
Truancy Policy	43
Video Surveillance	18
Virtual Learning Policy	76
Visitors	15
ELEMENTARY SCHOOL SECTION	78
Attendance	78
Extracurricular Activities—Elementary	79
Field Trips	79
Honor Roll	78
Promotion/Retention/Course	79
HIGH SCHOOL SECTION	69
Alternative Learning Environment	86
Grades and Criteria for Class Rank	80
Class Standing	80
Closing Remarks	90
Concurrent/Correspondence/Web CT	86
Core Curriculum	83
Course Requirements	80
Early Graduation Requirements	84
Extracurricular Activities	88
Graduation Requirements	81
Honor Graduates	81

Honor Roll	80
Motor Vehicles Regulations	89
Promotion/Retention—Secondary	85
Schedule Changes	80
Smart Core Curriculum	82
Test Exemption Policy	84

### OZARK MOUNTAIN SCHOOL DISTRICT CALENDAR

### Ozark Mountain School District | 2025-2026 CALENDAR



05-08 Teacher Contract Days 07 Open House

12 First day of school



- **Progress Reports** PT Conferences 5
- Regular School Day Snow make up day

	SEPTEMBER '25									
8	м	T	w	Th	F	8				
	1	2	3	4	5	6				
7	8	9	10	11	12	13				
14	15	16	17	18	19	20				
21	22	23	24	25	26	27				
28	29	30		П						

Progress Reports PT Conferences 25 26

Regular School Day

	MARCH '26									
8	м	T	W	Th	F	8				
1	2	3	4	5	6	7				
8	9	10	11	12	13	14				
15	16	17	18	19	20	21				
22	23	24	25	26	27	28				
29	30	31								

End 3<sup>rd</sup> quarter (36 days) 24-27 Spring Break

	OCTOBER '25									
	S M T W Th F									
				1	2	3	4			
	5	6	7	8	9	10	11			
	12	13	14	15	16	17	18			
	19	20	21	22	23	24	25			
İ	26	27	28	29	30	31				

10 End 1# quarter (36 days) 13 Teacher Inservice (no school for students)



03 Good Friday snow make up day 05 Easter Sunday

**Progress Reports** 

Ī	NOVEMBER '25								
İ	\$	M	T	W	Th	F	8		
							1		
	2	3	4	5	6	7	8		
ı	9	10	11	12	13	14	15		
	16	17	18	19	20	21	22		
	23	24	25	26	27	28	29		
	30								

Veterans Day 12 Progress Reports 24-28 Thanksgiving Break

	MAY '26								
8	M	T	W	Th	F	8			
					1	2			
3	4	5	6	7	8	9			
10	11	12	13	14	15	16			
17	18	19	20	21	22	23			
24	25	26	27	28	29	30			
31									

15 End 4th quarter (35 days) 18-20 Snow make up days Memorial Day 25

ı	DECEMBER '25									
İ	8	M	T	w	Th	F	8			
		1	2	3	4	5	6			
	7	8	9	10	11	12	13			
İ	14	15	16	17	18	19	20			
	21	22	23	24	25	26	27			
Ī	28	29	30	31						
İ										

18 Semester Tests No early dismissal 19 End 2<sup>nd</sup> quarter (36days) 22-Jan 2 Christmas Break

JUNE '26									
8	M	-	W	Th	F	8			
	1	2	3	4	5	6			
7	8	9	10	11	12	13			
14	15	16	17	18	19	20			
21	22	23	24	25	26	27			
28	29	30							
j l									

In case of inclement weather, the superintendent has the right to use Mondays to make up missed days

	JANUARY '26								
8	M	T	w	Th	F	8			
				1	2	3			
4	5	6	7	8	9	10			
11	12	13	14	15	16	17			
18	19	20	21	22	23	24			
25	26	27	28	29	30	31			
	$\neg$	$\blacksquare$	$\overline{}$	$\Box$	$\overline{}$				

New Year's Day 06 Start 2nd semester 12 Teacher Inservice Day (no school for students)

JULY '26						
8	M	T	W	Th	F	8
			1	2	3	4
5	6	7	8	9	10	11
12	13	14	15	16	17	18
19	20	21	22	23	24	25
26	27	28	29	30	31	

October PD on Monday School ends May 15

**Board Approved** 3.20.25

Sohool Calendar Template @ oalendarlabs.oom

# **General Information**

### **Birth Certificates and Immunization of Students**

The student will not be permitted to attend Ozark Mountain School District before providing proof and meeting the legal requirements for immunization against disease or before presenting a valid exemption for health, religious, personal or other reasons as provided by the law. The school district asks for a copy of the birth certificate and a social security card. Kindergarten students must have a physical.

### **Compulsory Attendance Requirements**

Every parent, guardian, or other person having custody or charge of any child age five (5) through seventeen (17) years on or before August 1st, of that year, who resides within the District shall enroll and send the child to a District school with the following exceptions.

- **1.** The child is enrolled in private or parochial school.
- **2.** The child is being homeschooled.
- 3. The child will not be age six (6) on or before October 1st of that particular school year and the parent, guardian, or other person having custody or charge of the child elects not to have him/her attend kindergarten. A kindergarten waiver form prescribed by regulation of the Department of Education must be signed and on file with the District administrative office.
- **4.** The child has received a high school diploma, <u>G.E.D.</u>, or its equivalent as determined by the State Board of Education.
- 5. The child is age sixteen (16) or above and is enrolled in a post-secondary vocational-technical institution, a community college, or a two-year or four-year institution of higher education.
- **6.** The child is age sixteen (16) or seventeen (17) and has met the requirements to enroll in an adult education program as defined by A.C.A. § 6-18-201 (b). Legal Reference: A.C.A. § 6-18-201
- 7. If any student's Individual Education Program (IEP) or 504 Plan conflicts with this policy, the requirements of the student's IEP or 504 Plan take precedence.

### **Residence Requirements**

### Definitions:

- "Reside" means to be physically present and to maintain a permanent place of abode for an average of no fewer than four (4) calendar days and nights per week for a primary purpose other than school attendance.
- "Resident" means a student whose parents, legal guardians, persons having legal, lawful control of the student under order of a court, or persons standing in *loco parentis* reside in the school district.

- "Residential address" means the physical location where the student's parents, legal guardians, persons having legal, lawful control of the student under order of a court, or persons standing in *loco parentis* reside. A student may use the residential address of a legal guardian, person having legal, lawful control of the student under order of a court, or person standing in loco parentis only if the student resides at the same residential address and if the guardianship or other legal authority is not granted solely for educational needs or school attendance purposes.
- **A.** The schools of the District shall be open and free through the completion of the secondary program to all persons between the ages of five (5) and twenty one (21) years whose parents, legal guardians, or other persons having lawful control of the person under an order of a court reside within the District and to all persons between those ages who have been legally transferred to the District for educational purposes.
- **B.** Any person eighteen (18) years of age or older may establish a residence separate and apart from his or her parents or guardians for school attendance purposes. In order for a person under the age of eighteen (18) years to establish a residence for the purpose of attending the District's schools separate and apart from his or her parents, guardians, or other persons having lawful control of him or her under an order of a court, the person must actually reside in the District for a primary purpose other than that of school attendance.
- **C.** The children or wards of any person who is at least a half-time employee of this district but resides in another district are eligible to enroll in District schools.
- **D.** Students previously enrolled in the district who are placed under the legal guardianship of a non-custodial parent living outside the district by a custodial parent on active military duty may continue to attend this school district.

# **Entrance Requirements**

To enroll in a school in the District, the child must be a resident of the District as defined in District policy 5.13—RESIDENCE REQUIREMENTS.

- **A.** Students may enter kindergarten if they attain the age of five (5) on or before August 1<sup>ST</sup> of the year in which they are seeking initial enrollment. Any student who has been enrolled in a state-accredited or state-approved kindergarten program in another state for at least sixty (60) days, who will become five (5) years old during the year in which he/she is enrolled in kindergarten, and who meets the basic residency requirement for school attendance may be enrolled in kindergarten upon written request to the District.
- **B.** Any child who will be six (6) years of age on or before October 1 of the school year of enrollment and who has not completed a state accredited kindergarten program shall be evaluated by the district and may be placed in the first grade if the results of the evaluation justify placement in the first grade and the child's parent or legal guardian agrees with placement in the first grade; otherwise the child shall be placed in kindergarten.
- **C.** Any child may enter first grade in a District school if the child will attain the age of six (6) years of age during the school year in which the child is seeking enrollment and the child has successfully completed a kindergarten program in a public school in Arkansas. Any child who has been enrolled in the first grade in a state-accredited or state-approved elementary school in

another state for a period of at least sixty (60) days, who will become six (6) years of age during the school year in which the student is enrolled in grade one (1), and who meets the basic residency requirements for school attendance may be enrolled in the first grade.

- **D.** Students who move into the District from an accredited school shall be assigned to the same grade as they were attending in their previous school (mid-year transfers) or as they would have been assigned in their previous school. Homeschool students, private school students, and/or students with no records shall be evaluated by the District to determine their appropriate grade placement. In K-6, these evaluations will be used to determine placement: Dibels, DRA, Star Math, and Star Reading. In grades 7-12, student evaluations may include but are not limited to: credits, Star Math, and Star Reading. As a result of 7-12 evaluations students may be placed in the Alternative Learning Environment.
- **E.** Prior to the child's admission to a District school:
- 1. The parent, guardian, or other responsible person shall furnish the child's social security number, or if they request, the district will assign the child a nine (9) digit number designated by the department of education.
- 2. The parent, guardian, or other responsible person shall provide the district with one (1) of the following documents indicating the child's age:
- a. A birth certificate;
- b. A statement by the local registrar or a county recorder certifying the child's date of birth;
- c. An attested baptismal certificate;
- d. A passport;
- e. An affidavit of the date and place of birth by the child's parent or guardian;
- f. Previous school records; or
- g. Military Identification
- 3. The parent, guardian, or other responsible person shall indicate on school registration forms whether the child has been expelled from school in any other school district or is a party to an expulsion proceeding.

\*Immunization Requirements - It shall be the policy of the Board of Education that all students shall meet the immunization requirements established by the State Board of Education. Please see immunization policy on page 10.

### STUDENTS' RECORDS/ DIRECTORY INFORMATION

All students' educational records are available for inspection and copying by the parents of any student who is under the age of eighteen (18). At the age of eighteen (18), the right to inspect and copy a student's records transfers to the student. A student's parent or the student, if over the age of eighteen, requesting to review the student's educational record will be allowed to do so within no more than 45 days of the request. The district forwards education records, including disciplinary records, to schools that have requested them and in which the student seeks or intends to enroll. The district shall receive written permission before releasing educational records to any agency or individual not authorized by law to receive and/or view the educational records without prior parental permission.

For purposes of this policy, the Ozark Mountain School District does not distinguish between a custodial and non-custodial parent with respect to gaining access to a student's records. The fact of a person's status as parent or guardian, alone, enables that parent or guardian to review and copy his child's records.

If there exists a court order which directs that a parent not have access to a student or his records, the parent or guardian must present a file-marked copy of such order to the building principal and the Superintendent. The school will make good-faith efforts to act in accordance with such court order, but the failure to do so does not impose legal liability upon the school. The actual responsibility for enforcement of such court orders rests with the parents or guardians, their attorneys and the court which issued the order.

A parent or guardian does not have the right to remove any material from a student's records, but such parent or guardian may challenge the accuracy of **a** record.

The right to challenge the accuracy of a record does not include the right to dispute a grade, which must be done only through the appropriate teacher and/or administrator, the decision of whom is final. A challenge to the accuracy of material contained in a student file must be initiated with the building principal, with an appeal available to the Superintendent or his designee. Any appeal above that level will be subject to the procedure set out in federal; law and/or regulation. If the student participates in inherently public activities (for example, basketball, football, or other interscholastic activities), the publication of such information will be beyond the control of the District.

### PERMANENT RECORDS

Permanent school records, as required by the Arkansas Department of Education, shall be maintained for each student enrolled in the District until the student graduates or is beyond the age of compulsory school attendance. A copy of the student's permanent record shall be provided to the receiving school district upon the transfer of the student to another district.

### **CONTACT WITH STUDENTS ON CAMPUS**

### **Contact by parents/visitors/volunteers**

All visitors, including parents, shall register first with the office to receive a visitor pass.

### **Contact by Non-Custodial Parents**

If there is any question concerning the legal custody of the student, the custodial parent shall present documentation to the principal or his/her designee establishing the parent's custody of the student. It shall be the responsibility of the custodial parent to make any court ordered "no contact" or other restrictions regarding the non-custodial parent known to the principal by presenting a copy of a file-marked court order. Without such a court order on file, the school will release the child to either of his/her parents. Non-custodial parents who file with the principal a date-stamped copy of current court orders granting visitation may eat lunch, volunteer in their child's classroom, or otherwise have contact with their child during school hours and the prior approval of the school's principal.

Unless prior arrangements have been made with the school's principal, Arkansas law provides that the transfer of a child between his/her custodial parent and non-custodial parent, when both

parents are present, shall not take place on the school's property on normal school days during normal hours of school operation.

### Contact by Law Enforcement, Social Services, or by Court Order

State Law requires that Department of Human Services employees, local law enforcement, or agents of the Crimes against Children Division of the Department of Arkansas State Police, may interview students without a court order for the purpose of investigating suspected child abuse. In instances where the interviewers deem it necessary, they may exercise a "72-hour hold" without first obtaining a court order. Other questioning of students by non-school personnel shall be granted only with a court order directing such questioning, with permission of the parents of a student (or the student if above eighteen [18] years of age), or in response to a subpoena or arrest warrant.

If the District makes a report to any law enforcement agency concerning student misconduct or if access to a student is granted to a law enforcement agency due to a court order, the principal or the principal's designee shall make a good faith effort to contact the student's parent, legal guardian, or other person having lawful control by court order, or person acting in loco parentis identified on student enrollment forms.

In instances other than those related to cases of suspected child abuse, principals must release a student to either a police officer who presents a subpoena for the student, or a warrant for arrest, or to an agent of state social services or an agent of a court with jurisdiction over a child with a court order signed by a judge. Upon release of the student, the principal or designee shall give the student's parent, legal guardian, or other person having lawful control by court order, or person acting in loco parentis notice that the student has been taken into custody by law enforcement personnel or a state's social services agency. If the principal or designee is unable to reach the parent, he or she shall make a reasonable, good faith effort to get a message to the parent to call the principal or designee, and leave both a day and an after-hours telephone number.

### **RELIGION IN THE SCHOOLS**

The First Amendment of the Constitution states that "Congress shall make no law respecting the establishment of religion, or prohibiting the free exercise thereof..." As the Supreme Court has stated (Abington School District v, Schempp, 374 U.S. 203) the Amendment thus, "embraces two concepts—freedom to believe and freedom to act. The first is absolute but, in the nature of things, the second cannot be." Therefore, it is the Board's policy that the school system, as an agency of the government, shall be neutral in matters regarding religion and will not engage in any activity that either advocates or disparages religion. The District shall assume no role or responsibility for the religious training of any student.

The need for neutrality does not diminish our school system's educational responsibility to address the historical role of religion in the development of our culture. Since we live in a diverse society, the District's goal shall be to address the subject of religion objectively in such a way that it promotes an understanding of, and tolerance for, each other's religious or non-religious views.

Discussions concerning religious concepts, practices, or disciplines are permissible when presented in a secular context in their relation to an inclusive study of religion or to the study of a particular region or country. The discussions shall be so that they are objective and academically informational and do not advocate any particular form of religious practice.

Instructional activities in the schools that are contrary to a pupil's religious beliefs or teachings shall be optional.

Students and employees may engage in personal religious practices, such as prayer, at any time, and shall do so in a manner and at a time so that the educational process is not disrupted.

### STUDENT PARTICIPATION IN SURVEYS

<u>Section One:</u> No student shall be required to submit to a survey, analysis, or evaluation which is administered or distributed by a school, and is funded in whole or in part by any program administered by the U.S. Department of Education without the prior written consent of the parent/guardian that reveals information concerning the following:

- 1. political affiliations;
- 2. mental and psychological problems potentially embarrassing to the student or his family;
- 3. sex behavior and attitudes;
- 4. illegal, anti-social, self-incriminating, and demeaning behavior;
- 5. critical appraisals of other individuals with whom respondents have close family relationships;
- 6. legally recognized privileged or analogous relationships, such as those of lawyers, physicians, and ministers;
- 7. religious practices, affiliations, or beliefs of the student or student's parent
- 8. income (other than that required by law to determine eligibility for participation in a program or for receiving financial assistance under such program).

Section Two: No surveys shall be administered without the prior approval of the school principal. Any survey created by a third party, or funded, in whole or in part, as part of any US Department of Education administered program, containing one or more of the eight categories listed above shall be available to be inspected by a student's parent/guardian before the survey is administered or distributed by a school to a student. Parents/guardians shall have the right to deny permission for their child to participate in the taking of the survey. The school shall not penalize students whose parents/guardians exercise this option. The school shall take reasonable precautions to protect students' privacy during their participation in the administration of any survey, analysis, or evaluation containing one or more of the eight categories listed above.

Section Three: Parents or guardians wishing to inspect a survey, analysis, or evaluation shall be able to so in the administrative office of the administering school where the surveys shall be available for inspection for a period of ten (10)\* days (regular school days when school is in session) after the notice of intent to administer the survey is sent. Included in the notice shall be information regarding how the survey or questionnaire will be administered; how it will be utilized; and the persons or entities that will have access to the results of the completed survey or

questionnaire. Parents may refuse to allow their student to participate before or after reviewing the survey or questionnaire.

The requirements of sections one, two, and three of this policy do not apply to a survey administered to a student in accordance with the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act (IDEA).

Section Four: Prior written parental permission is required before any survey or questionnaire (not including tests mandated by state or Federal law or regulation and standardized scholastic achievement tests) is administered to a student the responses to which are to be provided to a person or entity other than another pubic school, school district, or any branch of the Federal Government and which requests or requires a student to provide any of the eight (8) categories of information listed above and/or the following; (a) a student's name; (b) the name of the student's parent or member of the student's family; (c) the address, telephone number, or email address of a student or a member of a student's family; (d) a personal identification number, such as a social security number, driver's license number, or student identification number of a student or a member of the student's family; (e) any information, the disclosure of which is regulated, or prohibited by any other state or federal law or regulation.

The rights provided to parents under this policy transfer to the student when he/she turns 18 years old.

### **Office Hours**

Ozark Mountain Schools are open from 7:30 AM to 4:30 PM on Tuesday through Friday unless otherwise indicated on the calendar. The automated system is available for voice messages on a 24 hours basis. If you need to reach us after hours, email is an excellent option.

# **Telephone Calls**

Local-call phones are available in the secondary office for student use. All office telephones are for school business and emergency use only.

### Visitors in the School

Any visitor to Ozark Mountain High School must register and obtain a visitor's pass from the front office, and obtain permission from the principal or his/her designee. Visitors will only be allowed to visit for half of the school day and must observe all of the rules and regulations of Ozark Mountain School District while on school grounds. The principal and superintendent reserve the right to deny visitation of any individual at any time. If a parent is continually visiting the school to support a program or to help volunteer in an area, that parent will be expected to become an approved volunteer rather than remaining as a visitor.

# **Ozark Mountain Parental Involvement Policy**

Ozark Mountain Schools' entire staff, parents, and students will work together to build a partnership to help students achieve high academic and social standards. This partnership will entail the availability of academic records, scheduled meetings, parental and student in-services, and regular communication.

### **Bills and Finances**

Any fines or bills owed by a student or organization shall be paid in the secondary office and the student shall receive receipts for the amount paid. Receipts should be kept by any payees until the end of the school year.

### Lockers

Each student is assigned a locker for his/her personal use. It is the student's responsibility to secure his/her personal materials. Lockers will be assigned by the secretary in the fall and checked by advisors for cleanliness throughout the year. If a student's locker may have reasonable suspicion of violating school policy or state law, it may be searched (*United States Supreme Court decision New Jersey vs. TLO-1985*)

### **Search and Seizure**

- 1. Ozark Mountain School District will create and maintain a climate in the school that assures the safety and welfare of all students.
- 2. Desks, lockers, and other storage facilities are the property of the school and remain at all times under the control of the school. School authorities may conduct or supervise law enforcement officials in periodic inspections at any time for any reason related to school administration.
- 3. A search will also be conducted when a reasonable suspicion exists that stolen items, items prohibited by law, items prohibited by school policy, or items which in any way threaten the safety, health, or welfare are contained within desks, lockers (backpacks are considered lockers), automobiles, or on an individual person.
- 4. Searches of person(s) will be conducted by the school principal or designee of the same sex as the student if the investigation warrants. An adult witness of the same sex as the student will also be present.

\*NOTE: K-9 Units will be brought on campus periodically, and may be brought to the lockers, classrooms, parking lots, etc.

# **Emergency Drills and Procedures**

### FIRE DRILL PROCEDURE

Fire drills are necessary for two reasons:

- 1. They are required by law.
- 2. The student must know how to leave the building quickly, and safely. During fire drills, the student will *WALK* as fast as traffic will allow, but will never run and will remain silent. The student can expect at least one fire drill each month.

### TORNADO DRILL PROCEDURE

- A. When an alarm is sounded, students move quickly into designated areas.
- B. Teachers shall check student roll.
- C. Students shall remain in designated areas until an all clear bell sounds.
- D. Conducted at least four times a year.

### LOCKDOWN DRILL PROCEDURE

- A. When an alarm is sounded students move quickly into designated areas.
- B. Students will remain in designated areas
- C. Teachers will not allow students to access other areas of school until all clear notification.

### **Bus Behavior**

Conduct on school buses is held to the same standard as conduct in the classroom. Inappropriate conduct or insubordination by a student may result in the student's loss of bus-riding privileges, loss of school privileges. Drivers will have specific rules.

### **Accidents**

All accidents occurring on the school grounds or under the school's supervision should be reported immediately to the principal or superintendent. Everyone is asked to follow normal first aid rules until proper supervision can arrive. The Ozark Mountain School District is not financially responsible for accidents that may occur on campus or school sponsored events.

### **Athletics and Other Events**

During athletic events or other types of school events all students are subject to the same handbook policies as during the school day (PDA, dress, etc.). Ozark Mountain students are to remain inside the building until the event is over. If they must leave, they will not be allowed to return, and they must leave the campus. Students will not be permitted to loiter outside the buildings.

# **Athletic Physicals and Insurance**

All students participating on athletic teams must have a physical prior to participating in practice or games/competitive events, etc. and provide a copy of that physical to the respective athletic department.

# **Attendance Requirements for Extracurricular Activities**

If a student is absent for more than four periods during a day (excluding school sponsored events), he/she may not participate in any after-school activity during that day or evening unless participation is approved by the administration. Being sent home by the school nurse is not an exemption to this policy.

### **Breakfast/Lunches**

Through Provision 2, all school lunches and breakfasts are free for students during the 24-25 school year. Students are encouraged to participate in the lunch and breakfast program on a daily basis.

# Video Surveillance and Monitoring

The Board of Directors has a responsibility to maintain discipline, protect the safety, security, and welfare of its students, staff, and visitors while at the same time safeguarding district facilities, vehicles, and equipment. As part of fulfilling this responsibility, the board authorizes the use of video/audio surveillance cameras, automatic identification technology, data compilation devices, and technology capable of tracking the physical location of district equipment, students, and/or personnel.

The placement of video/audio surveillance cameras shall be based on the presumption and belief that students, staff and visitors have no reasonable expectation of privacy anywhere on or near school property, facilities, vehicles, or equipment, with the exception of places such as rest rooms or dressing areas where an expectation of bodily privacy is reasonable and customary. Signs shall be posted on campus buildings and in district vehicles to notify students, staff, and visitors that video cameras may be in use. Parents and students shall be notified through the student handbook that cameras may be in use in the school buildings, on school grounds and in school vehicles. Students will be held responsible for any violations of school discipline rules caught by the cameras and other technologies authorized in this policy.

# Social Media and Media Posting

Ozark Mountain Schools may post student pictures on the district/school web pages/publications. Parents may request in writing their child's pictures not be posted on the web

pages. This written request must be given to the Principal's Office within thirty (30) calendar days of receipt of this notice.

Each parent, legal guardian, or eligible student has the right to refuse to permit the release of any or all of the above information. If the parent, legal guardian, or eligible student wishes to restrict the release of the directory information, he/she must inform the Principal's Office in writing within thirty (30) calendar days of receipt of this notice. An eligible student is one who has reached the age of 18 or is attending any school beyond the high school level. Parents and legal guardians of students may have access to student records as provided by the Family Educational Rights and Privacy Act of 1974 (FERPA). This act allows for the inspection of the content of records and for the right of a parent or guardian to challenge anything contained within the records that he or she considers to be inaccurate or misleading. The person making the request is also entitled to the opportunity to receive an interpretation of the records. Requests to view such records must be made in writing to the principal responsible for the maintenance of the records.

### STUDENT USE OF ARTIFICIAL INTELLIGENCE

### **Definitions**

"Artificial Intelligence (AI) Tools" means Software applications or platforms that utilize machine learning algorithms to perform tasks typically requiring human intelligence, such as generating content, providing recommendations, or solving problems. For purposes of this policy, AI tools does not include the use of spell check or grammar check.

The purpose of this policy is to establish guidelines for the responsible use of AI tools by District students. The policy applies to all students enrolled in the District and covers the use of AI tools when completing District assignments or projects.

The district shall provide teachers and students resources and education on AI literacy and digital citizenship. The District shall establish a committee who shall be responsible for the review and selection of AI tools that shall be available for students to use. All AI tools selected by the committee shall comply with applicable state and federal data privacy laws. Students shall only use AI tools that were approved by the District committee for classroom assignments or projects. Teachers are responsible for providing instructions on when and how AI tools may be used for classroom assignments. Students may use AI tools as approved by their classroom teacher to enhance learning and develop future-ready skills.

Students should use AI tools ethically and responsibly, aligning with the district's educational objectives, and in a manner that does not harm themselves or others. As part of using AI tools responsibly, students should be cautious about the information they provide to AI tools and consult with a teacher if unsure. At no time shall Students share personal, sensitive, or confidential information with AI tools, especially AI tools requiring data input.

When a student uses AI tools, a student shall:

- 1. Review and verify the accuracy of content that is generated by an AI tool;
- 2. Cite AI tools used as part of an assignment or project as a source, following District citation guidelines; and
- 3. Be transparent about their use of AI in completing assignments.

Students must ensure all submitted work is their own and properly acknowledge or cite any assistance from AI tools. Students are encouraged to ask questions if they are unsure about the acceptable use of AI tools.

The following actions regarding AI tools are strictly prohibited:

- Misuse of AI tools for cheating, plagiarism, or any form of academic dishonesty, including the submission of assignments that were fully generated by an AI tool and presented as original student work;
- Altering or falsifying academic documents or records using AI tools;
- Using AI tools to:
- Gain unauthorized access to District systems; or
- Bypass District security measures;
- Using AI tools to produce misleading or false information, imagery, or any form of false outputs about themselves, other students, or staff members.

Students should report any inappropriate content or security concerns encountered while using AI tools to a teacher or administrator.

Violations of this policy shall be handled in accordance with the District's disciplinary procedures.

# **Military Recruitment**

Ozark Mountain High Schools will release directory information (student names, addresses, and telephone numbers) to military recruiters and accredited post-secondary schools. Students or parents may request that such information **not** be released without prior written parental consent by contacting the school counselor's office.

### **Possession and Use of Personal Electronic Devices**

### **Definitions**

"Emergency" means a serious, unexpected, and dangerous situation that requires immediate action, including without limitation:

- An active fire;
- An active tornado or earthquake;
- An active shooter;
- An evacuation of school grounds; or
- A medical emergency

"Personal electronic device" means without limitation a:

- a. Cellular telephone;
- b. Paging device;
- c. Beeper;
- d. Mobile telephone that offers advanced computing and internet accessibility;
- e. Digital media player;
- f. Portable game console;

- g. Tablet, notebook, or laptop computer;
- h. Digital camera;
- i. Digital video or audio recorder;
- j. Smart watch; and
- k. Device that can connect and transmit data through Bluetooth technology.

"School day" means from the time students are required to be at school until the time students are dismissed from school.

### **Possession of Electronic Device**

Except as permitted under this policy, a student shall not be in possession of a personal electronic device during the school day. A student may possess a personal electronic device during the school day if:

- The personal electronic device is required by the student's individual education plan (IEP), 504 Plan, or Individual Health Plan for health reasons;<sup>1</sup>
- The possession of the personal electronic device is during an emergency as defined by this policy;
- The personal electronic device is issued by the District for the student's use during the school day; or
- The possession of the personal electronic device is during a special event during the school day.

A student shall be deemed to not be in possession of a personal electronic device if:<sup>2</sup>

### **Use of Personal Electronic Device**

Except as permitted by this policy, a student shall not use a personal electronic device during the school day. A student may use a personal electronic device during the school day if:

- The personal electronic device is required by the student's individual education plan (IEP), 504 Plan, or Individual Health Plan for health reasons;<sup>1</sup>
- The use of the personal electronic device is during an emergency as defined by this policy;
- The personal electronic device is issued by the District for the student's use during the school day; or
- The use of the personal electronic device is during a special event during the school day.

A student may possess and use a personal electronic device at a special school event for the purpose of taking photographs. The District shall inform the students and students' parents, legal guardians, persons having lawful control of the student, and persons standing in loco parentis the following before a special school event takes place:

- When and where the special school event will take place;
- Whether or not personal electronic devices shall be allowed at the special school event; and
- Where personal electronic devices may be used at the special school event.

The use of personal electronic devices at school sponsored functions outside the regular school day is permitted to the extent and within the limitations allowed by the event or activity the student is attending.

### **Misuse of Personal Electronic Devices**

Even if a student is allowed to possess or use a personal electronic device under this policy, the misuse of a personal electronic device is prohibited. Misuse of personal electronic devices includes, but is not limited to:

- 1. Using personal electronic devices issued by the District during class time in any manner other than specifically permitted by the classroom instructor;
- 2. Permitting any audible sound to come from the personal electronic device when not being used for reason #1 above;
- 3. Engaging in academic dishonesty, including cheating, intentionally plagiarizing, wrongfully giving or receiving help during an academic examination, or wrongfully obtaining test copies or scores;
- 4. Using the personal electronic device to record audio or video or to take photographs in areas where a general expectation of personal privacy exists, including but not limited to locker rooms and bathrooms;
- 5. Creating, sending, sharing, viewing, receiving, or possessing an indecent visual depiction of oneself or another person regardless of whether the image is real or created through the use of artificial intelligence;
- 6. Using a personal electronic device issued by the District in a manner that violates the Electronic Device and Internet Use Agreement regardless of whether the violation occurred on or off campus;
- 7. Using a personal electronic device at an event during the school day that was not designated as a special school event or in a manner or location that was not authorized as part of the special school event;
- 8. Using personal electronic devices issued by the District while driving any vehicle at any time;<sup>3</sup> or
- 9. Using a personal electronic device for the purposes of browsing the internet; composing or reading emails and text messages; or making or answering phone calls while driving a motor vehicle that is in motion and on school property.<sup>4</sup>

### **Discipline**

A student may have a personal electronic device confiscated if:

- The student is found to possess or use a personal electronic device when the use or possession is not authorized by this policy and the personal electronic device was not issued by the District:
- The student misuses a personal electronic device as defined by this policy; or
- The student's parent, legal guardian, person having lawful control of the student, or person standing in loco parentis uses the remote recording or listening capabilities of a personal electronic device, either through an app installed on the personal electronic device or the built-in capacity of the personal electronic device, except when authorized by the District.<sup>1,5</sup>

Confiscated personal electronic devices may be picked up at the school's administration office by the student's parent, legal guardian, person having lawful control of the student, or person standing in loco parentis .<sup>2</sup> Students have no right of privacy as to the content contained on any personal electronic devices that have been confiscated.<sup>3</sup> A search of a confiscated device shall meet the reasonable individualized suspicion requirements of Policy 4.32—SEARCH, SEIZURE, AND INTERROGATIONS.<sup>6</sup>

A student and the student's parents, legal guardians, persons having lawful control of the student, or persons standing in loco parentis expressly assume any risk associated with a student's possession or use of a student's personal electronic device that is not issued by the District. The District shall not be liable for a personal electronic device that is confiscated if the personal electronic device is lost, stolen, or damaged.

In addition to the confiscation of a personal electronic device for a violation of this policy, a student may be subject to the following discipline:<sup>7</sup>

To protect the integrity of the administration of the assessments under the Arkansas Educational Support and Accountability Act, a student who is found to be in possession of or to use a personal electronic device during the administration of a statewide assessment that is not required by the student's IEP, 504 Plan, or issued by the District shall have the discipline the student is subject to increase by an additional level.

### **Disciplinary Actions for Violations**

Violations related to personal electronic devices will result in:

1. First Offense –

Parent is called and must pick up the device and student.

2. Second Offense –

Parent is called and must pick up the device and student and the Yondr pouch is implemented for the student.

3. Third Offense –

Parent is called and must pick up the device and student – No device is allowed after the third offense.

Further discipline is up to Superintendent/Principal.

Note: The confiscation of cell phones will result in the student's loss of privacy.

NOTE 1: If a student loses phone privileges at any level they must turn their phone into the office at the start of each school day. The student may pick up his/her phone at the end of each day.

NOTE 2: The Ozark Mountain School District is not responsible for lost, stolen or damaged phones.

### Care of the School Grounds

An attractive school ground makes a good first impression. Littering cannot be permitted if we strive to maintain an attractive campus. Please take care of your school, your classroom and your equipment. If you see graffiti or other damage, make sure you report it to the office.

### **Closed Campus**

By school board action, Ozark Mountain School District has a closed campus policy. Students are not permitted to leave school after arrival at school without permission from the office. Students driving vehicles to school are to park them upon their arrival and stay out of, and away from, vehicles until school is out. Students cannot leave school and return within the same school day without a doctor's note or approval from the Principal.

When school is closed due to inclement weather or other emergency conditions, public announcements by the administration will be made through Facebook (Ozark Mountain Super page, school pages and principal's individual pages), and School Messenger. Check the district website— <a href="www.ozarkmountainschooldistrict.com">www.ozarkmountainschooldistrict.com</a>. Parents are strongly encouraged to sign up for the School Messenger notification system that building principals will use to notify parents of school closings.

### **Dances**

School dances are not to exceed three (3) hours or are to end by 12:00 a.m., whichever is first. Dances are school-sponsored events and subject to the established rules and policies. Individuals, other than Ozark Mountain School students, may be permitted to attend provided they have been invited by an Ozark Mountain School student and have met the criteria established by the OMSD administration.

### **Deliveries to Students**

Deliveries of balloons, flowers, etc. to students at school are prohibited during the school day. Deliveries are to be made at the end of the school day. If the parent wishes to have lunch with his child, he/she is welcome to do so in the school cafeteria. Classroom teachers may have special events, such as parties, where parents are asked to bring food. Because of health issues the refreshments brought for these events must be purchased from a store, or bakery. **Homemade goods, such as cookies and cake are not allowed.** 

# **Energy Drinks**

The possession, distribution, or consumption of energy drinks will not be allowed on any OMSD campus during school hours. This includes school sponsored trips and activities.

# **Equal Educational Opportunities**

No student in the Ozark Mountain School District shall be excluded from participation in, or denied the benefits of, or subjected to discrimination under any educational program or activity sponsored by the District on the basis of color, religion, national origin, sex, age, or disability.<sup>1</sup>

The District has a limited open forum granting equal access to the Boy Scouts of America and other youth groups.<sup>2</sup>

Inquiries on non-discrimination may be directed to Mr. Jess Knapp, Superintendent, who may be reached at 870-439-2218 or jknapp@omsd.k12.ar.us

Sexual harassment concerns may be directed to Mrs. Melissa King, Title IX Coordinator, who may be reached at 870-429-5215 or mking@omsd.k12.ar.us

Any person may report sex discrimination, including <u>sexual</u> harassment, to the Title IX Coordinator in person or by using the mailing address, telephone number, or email address provided above. A report may be made at any time, including during non-business hours, and may be on the individual's own behalf or on behalf of another individual who is the person alleged to be the victim of conduct that could constitute sex discrimination or sexual harassment.

For further information on notice of non-discrimination or to file a complaint, visit <a href="https://www2.ed.gov/about/offices/list/ocr/complaintintro.html">https://www2.ed.gov/about/offices/list/ocr/complaintintro.html</a>; for the address and phone number of the office that serves your area, or call 1-800-421-3481.

### F.E.R.P.A.

The "Family Education Rights & Privacy Act of 1974" (FERPA) limits the information about a student's academic record which may be disclosed without the student's written permission to "directory information." Directory information is defined as: Student's Name, address, telephone number, date and place of birth, classification, participation in officially recognized activities and sports, weight and height of members of athletic teams, dates of attendance, honors and awards received, most recent educational institutions attended by the student, e-mail address, photographs.

### Hall Passes -

Personal school business should be taken care of before school, between classes, at lunch or after school. Requests for permits to leave class during the day should be made only if **absolutely necessary**. If a student is on campus and not where his daily schedule indicates he should be, he must have a valid pass in his possession and should present it to any teacher or administrator who requests it. Teachers may be asked to keep a student log for sign outs.

### Insurance

The Ozark Mountain Schools make student insurance application forms available at the beginning of each school year. All students participating in athletics must verify accident insurance coverage either from parents' work or student insurance. Ozark Mountain Schools are not responsible for injuries.

### **Lost and Found**

Any items not claimed will be donated to charity.

### **Personal Items**

The Ozark Mountain High School and elementary schools are not responsible for lost personal items. If an item is lost, the student will immediately report to the teacher or office. A holding area is designated for items found and should be checked periodically. All personal items should be marked for identification. Personal items that are not used for school should be left at home, unless prior approval is granted by the classroom teacher.

### **Semester Test Policy**

All classes will have a semester test. Semester tests will count as 20% of the total grade for the class.

### Title IX

- A. In June, 1972, Congress passed Title IX of the Education Amendments, a law which affects virtually every education institution in the country. The law prohibits discrimination by sex in educational programs that receive federal funds. The law states in part that:
- 1. "No person in the United States shall on the basis of sex be excluded from participation in, be denied the benefits of, or be subjected to discrimination under any education program or activity receiving federal assistance."
- 2. Male and female students will be eligible for benefits, services and financial aid without discrimination on the basis of sex.
- B. Melissa King has been designated as the grievance officer for OMSD for the Title IX program for the 2025-2026 school year. Contact information: Melissa King, Phone: (870) 429-5215 or email: <a href="mailto:mking@omsd.k12.ar.us">mking@omsd.k12.ar.us</a>

### **School Choice**

The District will consider all applications for School Choice postmarked no later than the **May 1st** preceding the fall semester the applicant would begin school in the District. The Board shall notify the parent or guardian and the student's resident district, in writing, of the Board's decision to accept or reject the application within 30 days of its receipt of the application.

### Pledge of Allegiance

The Pledge of Allegiance shall be recited during the first-class period of each school day. Those students choosing to participate shall do so by facing the flag with their right hands over their hearts, or in an appropriate salute if in uniform, while reciting the Pledge. Students choosing not to participate shall be quiet while either standing or sitting at their desks.

Students shall not be compelled to recite the Pledge, but students who choose not to recite the Pledge shall not disrupt those students choosing to recite the Pledge.

Students choosing not to recite the Pledge shall not be subject to any comments, retaliation, or disciplinary action.

Students will have a moment of silence to pray, reflect, or organize their thoughts.

### **National Anthem**

Each school in the District shall broadcast The Star-Spangled Banner at:

- The commencement of each school-sanctioned sporting event; however, if two (2) or more school-sanctioned sporting events occur on the same day at the same school, then the broadcast of The Star-Spangled Banner may be performed at only one (1) of the events; and
- At least one (1) time each week during school hours.

The broadcast of The Star-Spangled Banner shall be selected from any recording that adheres to the Division of Elementary and Secondary Education (DESE) Rules, or, when appropriate, performed from original sheet music that adheres to DESE rules by:

- A school-sanctioned band program;
- A school-sanctioned chorale program, vocal group, or vocalist; or
- The attendees of a school-sanctioned event led by a vocalist selected by the principal of the school hosting the school-sanctioned event.

Students shall not be compelled to participate in the performance of The Star-Spangled Banner, but students who choose not to participate in the performance of The Star-Spangled Banner shall not disrupt those students choosing to participate in the performance of The Star-Spangled Banner. Students choosing not to participate in the performance of The Star-Spangled Banner who do not disrupt the participation of performance of The Star-Spangled Banner shall not be subject to any comments, retaliation, or disciplinary action.

### STUDENTS' RECORDS/ DIRECTORY INFORMATION

All students' educational records are available for inspection and copying by the parents of any student who is under the age of eighteen (18). At the age of eighteen (18), the right to inspect and copy a student's records transfers to the student. A student's parent or the student, if over the age of eighteen, requesting to review the student's educational record will be allowed to do so within no more than 45 days of the request. The district forwards education records, including disciplinary records, to schools that have requested them and in which the student seeks or intends to enroll. The district shall receive written permission before releasing educational records to any agency or individual not authorized by law to receive and/or view the educational records without prior parental permission.

For purposes of this policy, the Ozark Mountain School District does not distinguish between a custodial and non-custodial parent with respect to gaining access to a student's records. The fact of a person's status as parent or guardian, alone, enables that parent or guardian to review and copy his child's records.

If there exists a court order which directs that a parent not have access to a student or his records, the parent or guardian must present a file-marked copy of such order to the building principal and the Superintendent. The school will make good-faith efforts to act in accordance with such

court order, but the failure to do so does not impose legal liability upon the school. The actual responsibility for enforcement of such court orders rests with the parents or guardians, their attorneys and the court which issued the order.

A parent or guardian does not have the right to remove any material from a student's records, but such parent or guardian may challenge the accuracy of **a** record.

The right to challenge the accuracy of a record does not include the right to dispute a grade, which must be done only through the appropriate teacher and/or administrator, the decision of whom is final. A challenge to the accuracy of material contained in a student file must be initiated with the building principal, with an appeal available to the Superintendent or his designee. Any appeal above that level will be subject to the procedure set out in federal; law and/or regulation. If the student participates in inherently public activities (for example, basketball, football, or other interscholastic activities), the publication of such information will be beyond the control of the District.

### PERMANENT RECORDS

Permanent school records, as required by the Arkansas Department of Education, shall be maintained for each student enrolled in the District until the student graduates or is beyond the age of compulsory school attendance. A copy of the student's permanent record shall be provided to the receiving school district upon the transfer of the student to another district.

# **CURRICULUM INFORMATION**

# Policy Statement regarding grades reflecting academic performance Grades assigned to students will reflect educational objectives only.

The evaluation of each student's performance on a regular basis serves to give the parents/guardians, students, and the school necessary information to help affect academic improvement. Students' grades shall reflect only the extent to which a student has achieved the expressed educational objectives of the course.

### **Homework Policy**

Homework should be a positive experience and provide students the opportunity to reinforce skills and involve parents in the learning process. It shall be the policy of the Board of Education to delegate the responsibility of assigning homework for students to professional staff in accordance with the following principles and guidelines:

- **A.** Assignments will be considered as an extension of the classroom instruction for the purpose of either independent skill practice for mastery or for review of previously taught skills/concepts.
- **B.** Assignments will not involve skills/concepts which have not been previously taught.
- **C.** The level of difficulty and complexity of practice must be at or below the level at which the learner may proceed without supervision and guidance.
- **D.** Staff should implement plans for immediate feedback to the learner whenever possible. The feedback should communicate to the learner specifically those aspects of the assignment that guide the learner in making and practicing correction.
- **E.** Professional staff will exercise judgment relative to the quantity and frequency of homework assignments in relation to the above principles and guidelines. The emphasis will be on quality rather than quantity.

### **Equivalence Between Schools**

The Ozark Mountain School District is committed to providing a quality education for all students in each of the district's schools. The equitable distribution of district resources is one means the district shall use to ensure all of its students receive a quality education. The Board directs that services in Title I schools, when taken as a whole, are substantially comparable to services in schools that are not receiving Title I funds. Curriculum materials, instructional supplies, and the percentages of highly qualified personnel shall be equivalent between all schools in the district when compared on a school-by-school basis. Specifically, the goal of the district is to have its students given an equitable opportunity to learn regardless of the school they attend within the district.

The Board understands that the equivalence between schools shall not be measured by such things as the following: (a) changes in enrollment after the start of the school year; (b) varying costs associated with providing services to children with disabilities, (c) unexpected changes in personnel assignments occurring after the beginning of the school year; (d) expenditures on language instruction education programs and; (f) other expenditures from supplemental State or local funds consistent with the intent of Title I.

### **School Transfer Policy**

Transfers will be made on an individual basis with the students' best interest considered. These transfers will be based upon school policies and state laws at the time of transfer.

- **A.** Any student transferring from a school accredited by the Arkansas Department of Education to another school accredited by the Arkansas Department of Education, shall be placed into the same grade as the student would have been in had the student remained at the former school.
- **B.** Any student transferring from a school that is not accredited by the Arkansas Department of Education, or who has been home-schooled, to a school that is accredited by the Arkansas Department of Education shall be evaluated by the staff of that accredited school to determine that student's proper placement in the accredited school.
- **C.** Transfer Letter Grade Conversion The following conversions will be made for transfer letter grades from other accredited schools: A=95, B=85, C=75, D=65, F=59
- **D.** Intra-District Transfer— Complete School Transfer form and attach a letter to state the reason for wanting to transfer schools. Give the form and letter to the Superintendent's office to be placed on the agenda for school board approval/denial. Intra-District transfers will only be considered in July and December of each school year.
- "intra district transfers will be considered until the maximum number of class size, as defined by Arkansas law, reaches two students below the maximum number. Employees children will be given first priority, AR code 6-18-203 allows an employee to treat the district where they are employed as their resident district. Also, students who reside within a school zone's attendance zone will be given priority. All intra-district transfers would be provisional pending availability of an open slot with preference going to siblings and date of application."

In accordance with state-mandated class size limits, if enrollment in a class exceeds the legal maximum, the most recently enrolled student(s) may be reassigned to their school of residence. Every effort will be made to notify families promptly and assist with the transition. Complete School Transfer form and attach a letter to state the reason for wanting to transfer schools. Give the form and letter to the Superintendent's office to be placed on the agenda for school board approval/denial. Intra-District transfers will only be considered in July and December of each school year. Intra district transfers will be considered until the maximum number of class size, as defined by Arkansas law, reaches two students below the maximum number. Employees children will be given first priority, Ar code 6-18-203 allows an employee to treat the district where they are employed as their resident district. Also, students who reside within a school zone's attendance zone will be given priority. All intra-district transfers would be provisional pending availability of an open slot with preference going to siblings and date of application.

**E.** Students participating in OMSD's Digital Learning program fall under the same restrictions as Intra-District transfers. Transfers into and out of the Digital Learning Program will only be considered in July and December.

The OMSD Board of Education reserves the right, after a hearing before the Board, not to allow any person who has been expelled from another district to enroll as a student until the time of the person's expulsion has expired.

### Megan's Law

In compliance with A.C.A. 12-12-913 (g)(2) the Ozark Mountain School District shall work with area law enforcement in a manner consistent with applicable state law and Arkansas Department of Education Regulations to communicate the presence of a sexual offender. When necessary, law enforcement may contact building principals and give them information concerning registered sex offenders. The decision regarding which school principals to notify rests solely with law enforcement officials who use a rating system to determine those needing to be notified according to the offender's danger to the community.

### **District Website**

The **Ozark Mountain School District** shall maintain a web page to provide information about its schools, students, and activities to the community. This policy is adopted to promote continuity between the different pages on the district web site by establishing guidelines for their construction and operation.

The **Ozark Mountain School District** website shall be used for educational purposes only. It shall not create either a public or a limited public forum. Any link from any page on the District's site may only be to another educational site. The web site shall not use "cookies" to collect or retain identifying information about visitors to its web site nor shall any such information be given to "third parties." Any data collected shall be used solely for the purpose of monitoring site activity to help the district improve the usefulness of the site to its visitors. Each school's web page shall be under the supervision of the school's Web Master and the District's Web Master and the District's website shall be under the supervision of the District's Web Master. They shall have the responsibility for ensuring that web pages meet appropriate levels of academic standards and are in compliance with these guidelines and any additional administrative regulations. To this end, the District and School Webmasters shall have the authority to review and edit any proposed changes to web pages to ensure their compliance with this policy. All such editing shall be viewpoint neutral.

District and school web pages shall also conform to the following guidelines.

- 1) All pages on the District's web site may contain advertising and links only to educational sources.
- <u>2)</u> The District's home page shall contain links to existing individual school's web pages and the school home pages shall link back to the District's home page. The District's home page may also include links to educational extracurricular organization's web pages which shall also link back to the District's home page.
- 3) Photos along with the student's name shall only be posted on web pages after receiving written permission from the student or their parents if the student is under the age of 18.3
- 4) The Ozark Mountain School District's website shall be hosted by VisionAmp.<sup>4</sup>
- 5) No web page on the District web site may contain public message boards or chat rooms.
- 6) All web pages on the District web site shall be constructed to download in a reasonable length of time.
- 7) The District's home page shall contain a link to a privacy policy notice which must be placed in a clear and prominent place and manner.<sup>5</sup>

- 8) With the exception of students who may retain the copyright of material they have created that is displayed on a District web page, all materials displayed on the District web site are owned by **Ozark Mountain School District**.
- 9) The District shall include the following information on its website through a link located on the District's homepage titled "State Required Information":<sup>6</sup>
- a. Local and state revenue sources;
- b. Administrator and teacher salary and benefit expenditure data;
- c. District balances, including legal balances and building fund balances;
- d. Minutes of regular, emergency, and special meetings of the school board;
- e. The district's budget for the ensuing year;
- f. A financial breakdown of monthly expenditures of the district;
- g. The salary schedule for all employees including extended contract and supplementary pay amounts;
- <u>h.</u> Current contract information (not including social security numbers, telephone numbers, personal addresses or signatures) for all district employees;
- i. The district's annual budget;
- i. The annual statistical report of the district;
- k. Agenda of regular, emergency, and special meetings of the District board of directors;8
- 1. The names, email addresses, position (including zones), and terms of office for all members of the school district board of directors;
- m. The district's personnel policies;
- n. The annual School Performance Report;<sup>7</sup>
- o. School-Level Improvement Plans;<sup>8</sup>
- p. The School District Strategic Plan;8
- q. Student discipline policies;
- r. Comprehensive School Counseling Plan;
- s. The District financial policies;
- t. Student handbooks;9
- u. The Annual Report to the Public;
- v. The parent, family, and community engagement plan;
- w. The Immunization waiver report from Policy 4.57—IMMUNIZATIONS;
- x. School District Calendar;
- <u>y.</u> List of statutory, rule, or Standards for Accreditation waivers the District has received under A.C.A. § 6-15-103;
- aa. The total amount of State funds used for teacher salaries;

bb. The District's policy addressing the selection, relocation, retention and challenging of materials that are physically present in the library and available to the public;

The information and data required for items A through K in 9 above shall be the actual data for the previous two (2) school-years and the projected data for the current school-year.

**Notes:** <sup>1</sup>A link to either a non-educational web site or advertising from non-educational sources establishes your web site as a limited open forum which would require you to allow links and advertising to other non-educational sources unless you could demonstrate that they could be disruptive to your educational environment.

<sup>5</sup> See policy 5.20.1

Legal References: A.C.A. § 6-11-129

20 U.S.C. § 1232 g

15 U.S.C. § 6501 (COPPA)

Date Adopted: 6/20/2016 Last Revised: 6/20/2016

### **Challenge of Instructional/Supplemental Materials**

Instructional and supplemental materials are selected for their compatibility with the District's educational program and their ability to help fulfill the District's educational goals and objectives. Individuals wishing to challenge or express concerns about instructional or supplemental materials may do so by filling out a Challenge to Instructional Material form available in the school's office.

The contesting individual may present a copy of the form to the principal and request a conference be held at a time of mutual convenience. Prior to the conference, the principal shall consult with the teacher regarding the contested material. In the conference, the principal shall explain to the contesting individual the criteria used for the selection of the material and its relevance to the educational program as well as any other pertinent information in support of the use of the material.

Following the conclusion of the meeting, the principal shall have five (5) working days to submit a summary of the concerns expressed by the individual and the principal's response to those concerns to the Superintendent.

If the contesting individual is not satisfied with the principal's response, the individual may, after the five (5) working day period, request a meeting with the Superintendent where the individual shall present the same Challenge to Instructional Material form previously presented to the principal. The Superintendent shall explain to the contesting individual the criteria used for the selection of the material and its relevance to the educational program as well as any other pertinent information in support of the use of the material.

Following the conclusion of the meeting, the Superintendent shall have five (5) working days to write a summary of the concerns expressed by the individual and the Superintendent's response

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Collection of data from individuals under the age of 13 makes compliance with the Children's Online Privacy Protection Act (COPPA) more difficult and cumbersome. It's simply easier to have your policy state that you will collect no data on site visitors.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> This relates to the Family Educational Rights and Privacy Act (FERPA). Directory Information as defined by FERPA (see policy 4.13) allows for the release of a student's name, address, and phone number, but because of the potential for significantly greater exposure of the Internet than exists in print media, ASBA recommends limiting the release of Directory Information on the Internet to a student's photo along with their name **after** receiving written parental permission. Although it has not been definitively established by the U.S. Supreme Court, the vast increase in exposure offered by the Internet appears to dictate a more restrictive policy regarding the release of Directory Information as it relates to the Internet.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> If you choose to have your district's web site hosted by a server separate from your district, make sure that they are willing to abide by the requirements of this policy, especially the advertising requirements.

to those concerns. The Superintendent shall create a file of his/her response along with a copy of the principal's response and a copy of the contesting individual's Challenge to Instructional Material form.

If, after meeting with the Superintendent, the contesting individual is not satisfied with the Superintendent's response regarding the appropriateness of the instructional or supplemental material, he/she may appeal the Superintendent's decision to the Board. The Superintendent shall present the contesting individual's Challenge to Instructional Material form to the Board at the next regularly scheduled meeting along with the written responses to the challenge. The Board may elect, if it so chooses, to hear brief verbal presentations from the parties involved in the challenge.

The Board shall decide at that meeting or their next regularly scheduled meeting whether to retain the material, limit the availability of the material, or remove the material from the school. The Board's primary consideration in reaching its decision shall be the appropriateness of the material for its intended educational use.

### **Media Publications**

The Ozark Mountain School District may periodically publish information on individual and/or group student achievements in our schools. These publications are strictly informational in nature.

### **Publications Policy**

School sponsored publications are produced as part of the Ozark Mountain high school's district's educational curriculum to provide a supervised learning experience for journalism students and are taught as a regular classroom activity.

Truth, fairness, accuracy, and responsibility are essential to the practice of journalism. The following types of publications (articles or pictures within publications) of or by students are not authorized:

- A. Publications, or articles or pictures within such publications that are obscene to minors as defined by state law.
- B. Publications, or articles, or pictures with such publications that are libelous or slanderous, as defined by state law.
- C. Publications, or articles, or pictures within such publications, that constitutes an unwarranted invasion of privacy, as defined by state law.
- D. Publications, or articles, or pictures within such publications that incite students, creating a clear and present danger of the commission of unlawful acts on school premises or the violations of lawful school regulations or the material and substantial disruption of the orderly operation of the school.
- E. Publications which suggest or urge the violation of lawful school regulations
- F. Hate literature that scurrilously attacks ethnic, religious, or racial groups.

In order to reserve student publications for their intended educational purpose, school officials shall retain ultimate editorial control over the determination of what constitutes responsible journalism in a school-sponsored newspaper, yearbook, or printed matter prepared by student classes or organizations for distribution to students. The publications advisor (journalism teacher) in conjunction with student editors, or other advisor of any other group producing matter for print, distribution, will determine what material shall be considered by school officials for publication. Any questionable material selected in this way shall be submitted to the building principal. The building principal shall review the material, taking into account such things as emotional maturity

of the intended audience; whether the material associated the school with a non-neutral position in a political controversy; whether the material might be perceived as advocating drug or alcohol use, irresponsible sex or conduct inconsistent with the shared values of the larger community; whether the material might be hurtful or libelous to any specific individual or group of individuals.

Any material that the building principal deems to be inconsistent with the educational purpose of the publication shall be modified and resubmitted or withdrawn from consideration for publication. The decisions of the building principal shall be final, and there shall be no appeal.

School officials shall direct the distribution of student publications to ensure that school operations are not disrupted.

### DISTRIBUTION OF LITERATURE

The school principal or designee shall establish reasonable regulations governing the time, place, and manner of student distribution of literature.

The regulations shall:

Be narrowly drawn to promote orderly administration of school activities by preventing disruption and may not be designed to stifle expression;

Be uniformly applied to all forms of literature;

Allow no interference with classes or school activities;

Specify times and places where distribution may and may not occur; and

Not inhibit a person's right to accept or reject any literature distributed in accordance with the regulations.

The Principal, along with the student publications advisors, shall develop administrative regulations for the implementation of this policy. The regulations shall include definitions of terms and timelines for the review of materials.

All Distribution of Petitions or other printed material must be approved in advance by the principal. (The principal's sole basis for denying such distribution will be a substantial belief that possession or distribution of such materials will cause substantial disruption of school activities because of obscene or libelous language, personal attacks or the method or time of the distribution.)

### **Selection/Inspection of Instructional Materials**

The use of instructional materials beyond those approved as part of the curriculum/textbook program must be compatible with school and district policies. If there is uncertainty concerning the appropriateness of supplemental materials, the personnel desiring to use the materials shall get approval from the school's principal prior to putting the materials into use.

All instructional materials used as part of the educational curriculum of a student shall be available for inspection by the parents or guardians of the student. For the purposes of this policy, instructional materials is defined as instructional content provided to the student regardless of its format, including printed or representational materials, audio-visual materials, and materials in electronic or digital formats. The term does not include academic tests or academic assessments.

Parents or guardians wishing to inspect instructional materials used as part of the educational curriculum for their child may schedule an appointment with the student's teacher at a mutually agreeable time.

# STUDENT MEDICAL INFORMATION

### **Health Screenings**

The district conducts routine health screenings such as hearing, vision, and scoliosis due to the importance these health factors play in the ability of a student to succeed in school. The intent of the exams or screenings is to detect defects in hearing, vision, or other elements of health that would adversely affect the student's ability to achieve to his/her full potential.

The rights provided to parents under this policy transfer to the student when he/she turns eighteen (18) years old.

Except in instances where a student is suspected of having a contagious or infectious disease, parents shall have the right to opt their student out of the exams or screenings by using form 4.41F (provided by the school nurse) or by providing certification from a physician that he/she has recently examined the student.

### **Students with Special Health Care Needs**

It is the policy of Ozark Mountain High Schools to provide students with special health care needs individualized health care intervention to enable participation in the educational process regardless of their educational placement.

Individualized health care intervention shall be determined through a process of referral and identification culminating in the development of an Individualized Health Care Plan (IHCP) to be implemented under the supervision of a Health Care Coordinator. After the referral and identification, the coordinator will access and develop assessment and health care information. The Individualized Health Care Plan (IHCP) will be developed by a committee composed of educational and health care providers and parents utilizing the most current information available. The implementation of the IHCP shall be supervised by an identified Health Care Coordinator. The IHCP for identified, eligible disabled students under the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act (IDEA) or Section 504 of Rehabilitation Act should be incorporated within the respective Individual Education Plan (I.E.P.) or accommodation plan for these students.

These students include those:

- **A.** who may require administration and/or special procedures during the school day.
- **B.** who may use a particular health care device that compensates for the loss of a vital body function
- **C.** who may have a chronic medical condition that is currently stable but may require routine or emergency health care procedures, and
- **D.** who may require the provision of substantial, special, or frequent health care to avert death or further disability.

#### **Student Illness**

Any student who becomes ill at school should notify the classroom teacher. If a situation demands further care, the parents will be notified. If the parents cannot be reached, the school will take the necessary steps to insure the student's safety. Parents should be sure to keep the emergency procedure information updated, in order to be reached if a student becomes ill or injured. The school assumes no responsibility for treatment of the student.

#### **Student Medications**

Prior to the administration of any medication, including any dietary supplement or other perceived health remedy not regulated by the US Food and Drug Administration, to any student under the age of eighteen (18), written parental consent is required. The consent form shall include authorization to administer the medication and relieve the Board and its employees of civil liability for damages or injuries resulting from the administration of medication to students in accordance with this policy. All signed medication consent forms are to be maintained by the school nurse.

Unless authorized to self-administer or otherwise authorized by this policy, students are not allowed to carry any medications, including over-the-counter (OTC) medications or any dietary supplement or other perceived health remedy not regulated by the US Food and Drug Administration while at school. The parent or legal guardian shall bring the student's medication to the school nurse. The student may bring the medication if accompanied by a written authorization from the parent or legal guardian. When medications are brought to the school nurse, the nurse shall document, in the presence of the parent, the quantity of the medication(s). If the medications are brought by a student, the school nurse shall ask another school employee to verify, in the presence of the student, the quantity of the medication(s). Each person present shall sign a form verifying the quantity of the medication(s).

Medications, including those for self-administration, must be in the original container and be properly labeled with the student's name, the ordering provider's name, the name of the medication, the dosage, frequency, and instructions for the administration of the medication (including times). Additional information accompanying the medication shall state the purpose for the medication, its possible side effects, and any other pertinent instructions (such as special storage requirements) or warnings. Schedule II medications that are permitted by this policy to be brought to school shall be stored in a double locked cabinet.

Students with an individualized health plan (IHP) may be given OTC medications to the extent giving such medications are included in the student's IHP.

The district's supervising registered nurse is responsible for creating procedures for the administration of medications on and off campus.

The school shall not keep outdated medications or any medications past the end of the school year. Parents shall be notified ten (10) days in advance of the school's intention to dispose of any medication. Medications not picked up by the parents or legal guardians within the ten (10) day period shall be disposed of by the school nurse in accordance with current law and rules.

# All medications shall be taken to the office in the morning and kept there until after school.

#### **Communicable Diseases and Parasites**

Students with communicable diseases or with human host parasites that are transmittable in a school environment shall demonstrate respect for other students by not attending school while they are capable of transmitting their condition to others. Students whom the school nurse determines are unwell or unfit for school attendance or who are believed to have a communicable disease or condition will be required to be picked up by their parent or guardian. Specific examples include, but are not limited to: Varicella (chicken-pox), measles, scabies, conjunctivitis (Pink Eye), impetigo/MRSA (Methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus), Streptococcal and staphylococcal infections, ringworm, mononucleosis, Hepatitis B or C, mumps, vomiting, diarrhea, and fever (100.0 F when taken orally). A student who has been sent home by the school nurse will be subsequently readmitted, at the discretion of the school nurse, when the student is no longer a transmission risk. In some instances, a letter from a health care provider may be required prior to the student being readmitted to the school.

In accordance with 5.500---IMMUNIZATIONS, the District shall maintain a copy of each student's immunization record and a list of individuals with exemptions from immunization which shall be education records. A student enrolled in the District who has an immunization exemption may be removed from school at the discretion of the Arkansas Department of Health during an outbreak of the disease for which the student is not vaccinated. The student may not return to school until the outbreak has been resolved and the student's return to school is approved by the Arkansas Department of Health.

#### **General Requirements**

Unless otherwise provided by law or this policy, no student shall be admitted to attend classes in the District who has not been age appropriately immunized against<sup>1</sup>:

- Poliomyelitis;
- Diphtheria;
- Tetanus;
- Pertussis:
- Red (rubeola) measles;
- Rubella;
- Mumps;
- Hepatitis A;
- Hepatitis B;
- Meningococcal disease;
- Varicella (chickenpox); and
- Any other immunization required by the Arkansas Department of Health (ADH).

The parent will be notified by the principal or nurse if a student is suspected of having head lice or nits.

# STUDENT POLICIES

#### **Student Attendance**

It is the intention of this district to encourage regular attendance by offering incentives for good attendance and by assessing penalties for excessive absences.

**Mandatory Attendance:** All children who are ages five (5) through seventeen (17), on or by August 1st, are required to begin school that school year with the exception of five-year-old children for whom kindergarten has been waived by the parent, guardian, or person having custody or charge; students who have received a high school diploma or its equivalent; or students who are enrolled in a post-secondary vocational-technical institution, a community college, or a two-year or four-year institution of higher education.

#### **Absences**

Students should not be absent more than 8 10 days in a semester. When a student has 4 5 absences, his/her parent, guardian, or person in loco parentis shall be notified that the student has missed half the allowable days for the semester. Whenever a student exceeds 8 10 absences in a semester, the District shall notify the prosecuting authority and the parent, guardian, or person in loco parentis shall be subject to a civil penalty as prescribed by law.

Students with 9 11 absences in a course in a semester may not receive credit for that course. If the student fails to receive credit for a sufficient number of courses and at the discretion of the principal after consultation with persons having knowledge of the circumstances of the absences, the student may be denied promotion or graduation. Excessive absences, however, shall not be a reason for expulsion or dismissal of a student.

In accordance with Ark. Code Ann. §§ 6-18-201 et seq. and 6-20-2303 an absence will be defined as follows.

A student is absent if the student is not:

- 1. present for onsite instruction provided by the district,
- 2. participating in a planned district-approved activity, or
- 3. engaged in scheduled instruction at an off-site location, including remote learning.

It is the Arkansas General Assembly's intention that students having excessive absences due to illness, accident, or other unavoidable reason be given assistance in obtaining credit for their courses. Therefore, at any time prior to when a student exceeds the number of allowable absences (unless unable to do so due to unforeseen circumstances), the student, or his/her parent, guardian, or person in loco parentis may petition the school or district' administration for special arrangements to address the student's absences.

If any student's Individual Education Plan (IEP) or 504 Plan conflicts with this policy, the requirements of the student's IEP or 504 Plan take precedence.

#### **Additional Absences**

Additional absences that are not charged against the allowable number of absences are those where the student was on official school business or when the absence was due to one of the

following reasons and the student brings a written statement upon his/her return to school from the parent, guardian, person in loco parentis, or appropriate government agency stating such reason:

- 1. To participate in any school-sponsored activity;
- 2. To participate in the election poll workers program for high school students;
- 3. To serve as a page for a member of the General Assembly;
- 4. To visit his/her parent or legal guardian who is a member of the military and been called to active duty, is on leave from active duty, or has returned from deployment to a combat zone, or combat support posting;
- 5. For purposes pre-approved by the school administration such as visiting prospective colleges, to obey a subpoena, or to attend at an appointment with a government agency;

The District shall notify the Department of Finance and Administration whenever a student fourteen (14) years of age or older is no longer in school. The Department of Finance and Administration is required to suspend the former student's operator's license unless he/she meets certain requirements specified in the code.

#### **Excused Absences:** Excused absences are defined as follows:

- 1. Personal illness of the student (in cases of excessive absenteeism due to illness, the school administration may require written documentation from a physician concerning the circumstances of the absence).
- 2. Death in the immediate or extended family.
- 3. Observance of recognized holidays observed by their faith.
- 4. Medical/legal appointments.
- 5. Attendance at an appointment with a government agency.
- 6. College visits by seniors (limited to 2) will be counted as SE (school event absence) provided they bring back the proper documentation showing that they were at college or on a job interview. Failure to provide documentation will result in an unexcused absence. Students are expected to provide a two-day in advance written notice of their intent to the office and teachers. Failure to provide notice will result in absences that will count toward the ten (10) day limit.
- 7. Any extenuating circumstances which the Attendance Committee determines to justify an excused absence but are not covered above.
- 8. Driver's license test. (for the 1<sup>st</sup> attempt only)
- 9. Approved school or 4 H activities.
- 10. Participation in the Election Poll Workers program for high school students.
- 11. Absences for students excluded from school by the Arkansas Department of Health during a disease outbreak because the student has an immunization waiver or whose immunizations are not up to date.
- 12. Absences for a student who is the child of a fallen service member or fallen first responder:
- Due to a mental health concern; or
- To attend an event from a sponsoring organization that provides support to families of fallen service members or first responders or provides support for traumatic loss, grief, or resiliency.
- 13. Upon the written consent of a student's parent, legal guardian, person having lawful control of the student, or person standing in loco parentis to the student, the District shall grant an excused absence for the following purposes:

- Social or public policy advocacy; or
- Attempts to influence legislation or other governmental policy-making at the local, state, or federal level.

Additional excused absences shall be granted to allow a student to visit his/her parent or legal guardian who is a member of the military and been called to active duty, is on leave from active duty, or has returned from deployment to a combat zone or combat support posting. The number of additional excused absences shall be at the discretion of the principal.

**Unexcused Absences**: Any absence that is not otherwise specified as excused is an unexcused absence.

\*The Attendance Committee will review all absences of students that are required to meet before the committee and make a valid assessment of those days that are legitimately excused and those that are unexcused.

#### **Returning to School:**

Upon returning to school, proper documentation must be presented as follows: a doctor's statement, a note from a custodial parent or guardian, documentation of a court appearance, documentation of death in the family, or documentation of religious observance. Ozark Mountain School District will accept a note from a parent to the school office documenting illness without referral to the Attendance Committee. Only three (3) days per semester may be excused with a note from a parent documenting illness.

\*\*Per Board Policy students have two (2) days to turn in doctor's note for excused absence. If not turned in to the office by the end of the 2<sup>nd</sup> day the absence will be changed to unexcused.

It is the student's responsibility to arrange to make up classroom work missed, including tests, in consultation with the individual classroom teacher. Work may be made up at a rate of one day of makeup for each day

#### **Penalties for Excessive Unexcused Absences**

- 1. The student's parent/guardian shall be notified as required by law and as necessary. As a minimum this notification shall occur when the student has accumulated four (4) five (5) or more unexcused absences per semester.
- 2. After four (4) five (5) unexcused absences per semester, parents/guarding will be contacted by phone or mail explaining any further absences could subject your child to lose credit in a particular class and/or petition filed with the prosecuting attorney.
- 3. After the eighth (8<sup>th</sup>) tenth (10th) unexcused absence, a petition will be filed with the prosecuting attorney to take whatever action is necessary to improve student attendance which could lead to a penalty of \$500.
- 4. After the eighth (8<sup>th</sup>) tenth (10<sup>th</sup>) unexcused absence, in three or more of the core class periods, students in grades 7 and 8 may be denied promotion. Students must remain in the class in which promotion will be denied and do the assigned work for the remainder of the semester.
- 5. After the eighth (8<sup>th</sup>) tenth (10<sup>th</sup>) unexcused absence, students in grades 9-12 may be denied credit in those courses and the student may receive an "NC" on their transcript for the course grade. Students must remain in the class in which credit will be denied and do the assigned work

for the remainder of the semester. Days missed due to in-school or out-of-school suspension shall not count toward the allowable number of days absent.

NOTE—ISS does not count as an unexcused absence, but OSS does.

#### **Appeal Procedure:**

This action may be appealed to the Attendance Committee if the parent can provide information substantiating that the absences were due to personal illness, serious personal or family emergency or professional appointments that could not be scheduled after school. The parent and student must request to appear before the Attendance Committee within five (5) school days and show that the absences were for the reasons listed as excused absences.

#### **Attendance Committee:**

The Attendance Committee will be composed of the principal and two (2) faculty members. The duty of the Attendance Committee will be to review all absences of students that are required to appear before them and make a valid assessment of those days that are excused and those that are unexcused.

#### **Operation Stay-in-School**

As authorized by State Law, Act 867 of 1989, the Stay-in-School Program authorizes school districts to enter into cooperative agreements with law enforcement officials to implement a stay-in-school program. The program provides that law enforcement officials may attempt to locate and detain students who are off school premises during school hours but who should be in school, or to transport to his/her parents, or to a truancy reception center which has been designated by the school district.

Each school district must notify the Department of Finance and Administration whenever a student is 14 years or older and is no longer in school. (Ark. Cod Ann. 6-18-222, as amended by Act 572)

The Department of Finance and Administration shall notify the student that his/her motor vehicle operator's permit will be suspended unless the student requests a hearing within thirty (30) days. The license may be retained if the student can provide evidence of:

- 1. Reaching the age of eighteen (18).
- 2. School attendance.
- 3. Obtaining a high school diploma or equivalent.

*The Department of Finance and Administration may grant hardship exceptions.* 

#### **Tardy Policy**

Whether at school or work, it is important for the students to be on time. Constantly being late or tardy is a bad habit, is inconsiderate of others, and is a waste of valuable time. It is important to be on time to get the maximum benefit from their classes and for teachers to be able to conduct classes effectively and efficiently. Persistent tardiness will result in disciplinary action. At the high school level, tardy #3 will be counted as an absence for test exemption purposes.

#### **Truancy Policy**

Truancy is defined as the following: (1) not attending school after leaving home to do so, (2) leaving school without permission from the office, (3) not attending a class the student is enrolled in without a legitimate pass to do so, and (4) leaving class without permission. Students and their parents/guardians hold the main responsibility for school attendance. The School Board asks for the cooperation of both the student and parent/guardians in these matters so that the student can receive the best education possible.

Any student who fails to follow all or any part of the assigned schedule, whether the student is on or off campus, without checking out at the office, will be considered truant, and the student will not receive credit for the time truant.

#### **Appearance and Dress Code**

Students are expected to maintain a neat and clean appearance during the school day and at all school activities. As a general rule, any student-worn article of clothing or manner of hair style or makeup determined by teachers and/or administrators to be disruptive to the learning environment or hazardous to the health and safety of the child and/or teacher shall not be allowed. The primary guide in determining what is or is not appropriate is the extent to which such dress or grooming attracts undue attention in the classroom or school. In addition to the general guidelines given above, the following is a list of specific clothing that will not be allowed:

- 1. Clothing may not be worn which exposes the student's undergarments.
- 2. Clothing may not be worn if it is revealing to the point of distraction; for example, halters, bare midriffs, see-through blouses, extremely tight clothing, loose tank tops that expose the torso or undergarments.
- 3. Leggings/running pants/yoga pants fall under the extremely tight clothing rule and will be considered a distraction. If this type of clothing is worn, the student MUST also wear at all times a top that covers their front and back areas modestly.
- 4. All clothing must be worn properly. For example, pants or shorts must be worn at the waistline.
- 5. No clothing may be worn that advertises any product or activity that is considered damaging to a person's health or morals; for example: tobacco, alcohol, drugs, vulgarity, obscenity, profanity, sexually explicit, or suggestive messages.
- 6. No shoes with wheels will be allowed.
- 7. No pajamas, blankets, or bathrobes will be allowed.
- 8. Sunglasses may not be worn inside school buildings unless they are a medical necessity (documentation from a medical provider must be presented to the office)
- 9. Students who wear clothing that violates the above codes will be required to change clothes or will be sent home. Repeated offenses will be treated with more stringent consequences.
- 10. The principal shall make the final decision dealing with dress and appearance.
- 11. Permission may be granted by the principal to temporarily adapt these rules for special class or school occasions.

# **Student Disciplinary Policies**

#### **Discipline Policies and Student Conduct**

The Ozark Mountain School District recognizes that a sound and fairly administered student discipline policy is essential for providing the proper atmosphere for learning in our school. The School Board and Administration fully support this philosophy and will strive to provide such an environment for students.

The School Board will instruct the Superintendent of Schools, in cooperation with principals and teachers to establish codes of conduct which state clearly and precisely in written form specified rules and regulations. Such rules or regulations shall:

A. Be based on policies of the Ozark Mountain School Board for the improvement of education. If a rule or regulation prohibits an action, the reason shall be specified.

B. Be as precise as possible and sufficiently adapted to the needs of youth served by the school.

C. Be considered reasonable and proper.

Principals shall have both the authority and the duty to take disciplinary action whenever the behavior of any student (s) materially interferes with or substantially disrupts maintenance of a proper atmosphere for learning within classrooms or other parts of schools.

Notice of the rules and regulations existing in each school shall be disseminated to students and parents in a wide variety of ways (student assemblies, PTA meetings, public address announcements, and student handbooks, etc.)

Application of disciplinary measures shall at all times reflect a fair and reasonable exercise of authority. Disciplinary measures shall not be arbitrary, capricious, discriminatory, or otherwise unreasonable. Procedural due process, to the extent of its applicability in any particular situation, shall be afforded all students prior to imposition of punishment. The degree afforded shall be proportionate both to the gravity of the offense and the severity of the contemplated penalty, as outlined in the Board's policies relative to suspension, expulsion, and corporal punishment.

Legal Reference: 42 U.S.C. 1983; Tinker v. Des Moines Independent Community School District 89 S. Ct. 733 (1979); Goss V. Lopez, 95 S. Ct. 779 (1975); Wood v. Strickland, 95 S. Ct. 992 (1975); AR. Stat. Ann. 80-1629; Arkansas Commission on Pupil Discipline in Public Schools, Model School Board Policies for Student Discipline, ACT 104 of 1983, First Extraordinary Session

#### **Disciplinary Procedures**

A variety of corrective measures are authorized for the breach of rules applicable to students. The corrective measure to be employed shall be determined in each case by the principal or his designee, the classroom teacher, or other appropriate educational staff member, except where School Board action is required. Such measures may include the use of reasonable force in the exercise of lawful authority to restrain or correct students and to maintain order. Minor infractions ordinarily will not justify the imposition of severe corrective measures. Repeated minor infractions that are not amenable to corrections by lesser measures may justify the use of more severe measures. Ozark Mountain Schools follow a discipline policy that begins with a reprimand and follows steps up to and including suspension or expulsion.

# **Disciplinary Options**

Admonition and counseling should be used when appropriate to assist a student to understand when his/her conduct interferes with the educational progress, interferes with the educational progress of others, disrupts or interferes with the orderly operation of the school, or threatens the rights of others. The following is a list of corrective measures that may be used at Ozark Mountain Schools. These measures may be used singularly or in combination with other measures, if necessary.

**Reprimand** - Conference between student and faculty member calling attention to the student's improper conduct.

**Additional Duties** - Minor infractions may be resolved using solutions that require performing additional room or campus duties.

**Noon Detention** /**After School Detention**— May be used for students failing to follow rules, failure to complete homework and/or classroom assignments. The student may be assigned to noon detention until these assignments are completed. In cases of student misbehavior, five detentions in a 9 week period will result in a referral to the principal for further disciplinary action as determined by the administrator.

**Deprivation of Privileges** – This form of discipline is encouraged when the student has developed a pattern of chronically repeating minor offenses. Deprived privileges may include but not be limited to a loss of driving/parking privileges, suspension from extracurricular activities, and denied access to school functions.

**Principal/Student Conference** - A conference between the principal and the student to discuss the student's behavior.

**Principal/Parent Conference** - The severity of an infraction, or the frequent occurrence of infractions, may necessitate a conference between the principal and the parents of the student. Parents should not expect a report on every problem that arises.

Referral to other school personnel: (counselor, social worker, nurse, etc.).

**Referral to out-of-school personnel**: (physician, psychologist, drug or alcohol treatment center, law enforcement personnel, etc.).

**In-School Suspension** - Students may be assigned by the principal an In-School Suspension on a temporary basis when staff is available to supervise the suspension; and when such assignment does not disrupt the normal school routine.

**Corporal Punishment** - This may be used for behavior which interferes with the education of others, disrupts the orderly operation of the school, threatens any individual's well-being, or knowingly violates school rules (Act 333 or 1995). Attention to alternative discipline procedures shall be made before imposition of corporal punishment. Corporal punishment may be administered by any certified staff member in the presence of an administrator or his designee.

**Alternative School Program** – When it appears that a student cannot conform to acceptable behavioral standards in the regular school program, the principal may recommend placement in an alternative school program.

NOTE: ADDITIONAL CONSEQUENCES MAY BE APPLIED FOR BUS INFRACTIONS.

#### **Out-of-School Suspension**

A student may be suspended from school when such suspension is necessary to regain or maintain emotional control or when the student's presence at school represents a reasonable threat to others or when the student's presence at school prevents other students from pursuing desirable educational goals.

**Conduct which may constitute cause for suspension** shall include, but not be limited to, any of the following:

- a. Continued and willful disobedience.
- b. Open defiance of the authority of any teacher or person having authority in the school.
- c. Conduct of such character as to constitute a continuing danger to the well-being of the other students.
- d. Physical assault upon another student, teacher, or administrator.
- e. Taking or attempting to take another person's property or money by means of force or fear, or by other means.
- f. Willfully causing, or attempting to cause, substantial damage to school property.
- g. Participation in unauthorized occupancy of any part of the school or school grounds, or failure to leave promptly after having been directed to do so by the principal or other person then in charge.
- h. Use, possession, distribution, or being under the influence of intoxicants or illegal drugs on school property or in connection with any school activity.
- i. Use or possession of any unauthorized firearm, switchblade, knife, or other weapon on school property and the use or possession of explosives, including fireworks.
- j. Violation of attendance regulations.
- k. Violation of tobacco regulations.
- 1. Cursing or verbally abusing any person (possible recommendation for expulsion).
- m. Willful interruption or substantial disturbance of any school activity.
- n. Any threat to bomb, burn, or destroy in any manner a school building.
- o. Violation of law or school board policy or regulations.
- p. Bullying
- q. Indecent/Immoral act
- r. Computer tampering
- s. Infectious disease

#### **Suspension Guidelines:**

Any suspension must conform to the following guidelines:

Prior to any suspension, the student shall receive an explanation of the intended suspension and shall be given reasonable opportunity to present evidence that might argue against suspension.

The student's parents or legal guardians should be notified immediately of any suspension, and should indicate how the student is to leave school.

Written notice of any suspension should be forwarded to the superintendent's office and the parents or guardians as soon as possible. Such notice shall include a statement of the reasons for and the conditions of the suspension. The notice will be mailed to the address listed on the student's current enrollment form.

Building administrators can suspend students from school for a period not to exceed 10 days, subject to appeal to the superintendent. Suspensions will include all activities and school events either on or off campus. (Act 742 of 1997)

At each step in the appeal process, the suspension may be affirmed, revoked, or otherwise modified by the person or group hearing the appeal. Such disposition of an appeal does not in any way prohibit a student or a student's parent or guardian from pursuing the appeal to the next level. Procedural due process, as defined by statutes and court decisions, will be followed at all stages of the suspension process. If a student under suspension transfers to another school, information regarding the suspension will be sent to that school.

During the period of their suspension, students may not attend any OMSD related function at our school or at any other school until suspension has been served. Full privileges will be reinstated at 4:30 on the last day of suspension.

Out-of-school suspension (OSS) shall not be used to discipline a student in kindergarten through fifth (5<sup>th</sup>) grade unless the student's behavior:

- a. Poses a physical risk to himself or herself or to others;
- b. Causes a serious disruption that cannot be addressed through other means; or
- c. The act of bringing a firearm on school campus.

OSS shall not be used to discipline a student for skipping class, excessive absences, or other forms of truancy.

#### **Expulsion**

Expulsion is a permanent denial of access to Ozark Mountain School. Expulsion will be used as a last resort and on recommendation of the principal. The Board of Education is the only authority that has the power to remove a student from school for a period of greater than 10 days. The Board will exercise this authority on the recommendation of the Superintendent of Schools when a student(s) participates in any activity which tends to disrupt, obstruct, or interfere with orderly education processes.

#### **Expulsion Procedures:**

The principal shall promptly send written notice of the facts warranting a request for expulsion to the superintendent, the parent(s) or legally responsible adult(s), the student, and each member of the School Board.

The superintendent shall notify the parent(s) or legally responsible adult(s) and the student of their right to a hearing before the School Board in a written notice delivered to them at least five days before such a hearing. (For reasonable cause, parents may request of the superintendent an

extension of the date of the hearing, in no case to exceed ten days). Included in the notification shall be the following:

- 1. The time and place of the hearing, the basis for the expulsion request, the substance of the evidence to be presented, and the procedures to be followed.
  - 2. That the student may be represented by parent(s) or other legally responsible adult(s).
  - 3. That evidence and testimony shall be permitted.
- 4. That written decision of the School Board shall be sent to the parent(s) or other responsible adult(s) and to the student within three days of the hearing. Should parent(s) notify the School Board in writing that they do not desire a hearing, they may waive their right and the expulsion may proceed. However, the failure of the student or her parents(s) or representative(s) to attend or participate in the hearing shall not prevent the conduct of the hearing.

#### **Prohibited Student Conduct**

**NOTE-**A substantial disruption is not listed under any infraction level, but may result in any level discipline infraction depending on severity.

**NOTE-**Disciplinary actions are options to be chosen from, not necessarily followed in order. All disciplinary measures will be at the discretion of the building principal, including habitually disruptive behavior

#### **Level 1 Infractions**

- 1. Truancy
- 2. Excessive Tardiness
- 3. Failure to Follow Instructions
- 4. Inappropriate Student Dress
- 5. Scuffling/Horseplay

#### **Level 1 Disciplinary Action**

- 1. Student/Principal Conference; Mandatory Change of Clothes (if applicable)
- 2. Lunch Detention; After School Detention; Corporal Punishment
- 3. 1-3 days of In-School Suspension, at the Discretion of the Principal
- 4. 1-3 days of Out-of-School Suspension, at the Discretion of the Principal
- 5. Five days of Suspension and Parent Conference

#### **Level 2 Infractions**

- 1. Disorderly Conduct
- 2. Profanity, Verbal Abuse, Obscene Gestures
- 3. Disrespect/ Defiance
- 4. Violation of Cafeteria Rules
- 5. Violation of Bus Rules/ Driving Rules
- 6. Leaving Campus without Permission (Closed Campus)

#### **Level 2 Disciplinary Action**

- 1. Lunch Detention; After School Detention; In-School Suspension; Corporal Punishment
- 2. Suspension of 1-3 days, at the Discretion of the Principal

- 3. 5 days of Suspension and Parent Conference; Loss of Bus Privileges (if applicable)
- 4. Suspension from School and Possible Recommendation for Alternative Learning Environment or Expulsion

#### **Level 3 Infractions**

- 1. Insubordination
- 2. Damage, Destruction, or Theft of School Property
- 3. Theft and Extortion
- 4. Plagiarism, Cheating, or Copying
- 5. Public Display of Affection
- 6. Misuse of Electronic Devices/Abuse of the Technology Agreement
- 7. Use of Tobacco/ Vaping
- 8. Student Threats (A student may not willfully and intentionally threaten to cause bodily harm to a student.)

#### **Level 3 Disciplinary Action**

- 1. Confiscation of Electronic Device; Corporal Punishment; Contact of Parent/Guardian; Payment of Damages; In-School Suspension; Loss of Credit (if applicable)
- 2. Suspension of 1-5 days, at the Discretion of the Principal
- 3. Suspension from School and Possible Recommendation for Alternative Learning Environment or Expulsion

#### **Level 4 Infractions**

- 1. Physical Abuse or Assault by a Student on Another Student
- 2. Bullying

#### **Level 4 Disciplinary Action**

- 1. Corporal Punishment; In-School Suspension; Parent Conference; Psychological Evaluation (if applicable)
- 2. 3-5 Days of Suspension and Parent Conference
- 3. Suspension from School and Possible Recommendation for Alternative Learning Environment or Expulsion

#### **Level 5 Infractions**

- 1. Possession, Use, Sale, or Distribution of Drugs or Alcohol
- 2. Sexual Behavior (including transmission of pornographic images)
- 3. Weapons, Dangerous Instruments, and Contraband (other than firearms)
- 4. Mistreatment of School Personnel (A student may not willfully and intentionally assault, threaten to assault, or commit battery on any school employee.)

#### **Level 5 Disciplinary Action**

1. Up to 10 days of Suspension from School; Possible Recommendation for Alternative Learning Environment or Expulsion; Psychological Examination (if applicable).

#### **Level 6 Infraction(s)**

- 1. Possession of a Firearm on School Grounds
- 2. Bomb Threats (A student who makes a bomb threat will be referred to the legal authorities and will be subject to a Level 6 disciplinary action.)

#### **Level 6 Disciplinary Action**

1. Recommendation for Expulsion for a period of no less than 1 year. The superintendent shall have the discretion to modify such expulsion recommendation for a student on a case-by-case basis. (See page 40 of the O.M.S.D. handbook.)

The following is a list of disciplinary infractions and their descriptions that **will not** be permitted:

#### Animals/Insects

Animals and insects are not to be brought to school unless approved by administration.

#### Assault and Abuse of Students and Staff Members (AR Code 6-17-113)

Students are to keep their hands to themselves and treat teachers and fellow students with respect and courtesy. Horseplay and physical teasing, as well as shoving, striking, fighting or threatening others with physical injury, etc., constitute battery and/or assault, and are strictly forbidden. If a conflict between students does occur, the administration will take factors into consideration, including (but not limited to): the circumstances surrounding the situation, which student initiated the conflict, and if the student who did not initiate the conflict was making an effort or attempt to neutralize the situation.

Violation of this policy will result in disciplinary action, and may also constitute a criminal offense. By law, local law enforcement must be notified whenever a felony, an act of violence, or a threat of violence, may have been committed on campus. (Act 1520 of 1999) A student, who commits assault, physical or verbal abuse, and/or battery, on any member of the administration, faculty, staff, or employee of Ozark Mountain School District, even if such actions occur off school premises, is subject to suspension and a recommendation for expulsion. In addition, students who threaten such acts are subject to suspension, and the severity of the act will be considered by the administration as to the recommendation for expulsion.

- "Abuse" means to wrong in speech, reproach coarsely, disparage, revile, or malign. Use of profanity or vulgar expressions directed at another person is considered abuse.
- "Assault" is the willful attempt to threaten to inflict injury upon the person of another, coupled with the apparent present ability to do so. Any display of force that would give the victim reason to fear bodily harm is assault, even if touching or striking does not occur.
- "Battery" is similar to assault but requires unexcused physical touching or injury.
- "Bullying" is unwanted, aggressive behavior that involves a real or perceived imbalance occurring over time.

**Damage or Destruction of School Property** (Act 1094 of 1983 Special Session)

A student shall not cause or attempt to cause damages to school property or steal or attempt to steal school property.

The school district will attempt to recover damages from the student destroying school property. Students shall make restitution of any property destroyed, damaged, or stolen by them and shall be subject to other disciplinary measures.

#### **Disregard of Directions or Commands**

A student shall comply with reasonable directions or commands from teachers, student teachers, substitute teachers, teacher aides, principals, administrative personnel, school bus drivers, or other authorized school personnel.

ACT 1281 of 1999 states "a teacher may remove a student from class and send him or her to the principal's or principal's designee's office in order to maintain effective discipline in the classroom."

The Act further states that a teacher may remove from class a student:

- a. Who has been documented by the teacher as repeatedly interfering with the teacher's ability to teach the students in the class or with the ability of the student's classmates to learn, or
- b. Whose behavior the teacher determines is so unruly, disruptive, or abusive that it seriously interferes with the teacher's ability to teach the students in the class or with the ability of the student's classmates to learn.

#### **Disruption and Interference with School:**

This will include interference with the proper conduct of a school, a school activity, or an individual class; attempts to prohibit or discourage attendance by others at school or a school activity; attempts to encourage other students to violate school rules or policies; refusal to identify oneself; or others engaged in unlawful or disruptive acts or to otherwise fail to divulge information regarding such acts.

#### **Definitions**

"Appropriate interim learning environment" means an appropriate learning environment that is used for a period of time not to exceed ten (10) days.

"Appropriate learning environment" means a setting within the District that provides a similar structure to the following, without limitation:

- 1. A classroom; or
- 2. In-school suspension.

"Violent or abusive behavior" means, without limitation:

- a. Using threatening language;
- b. Throwing an item that risks or causes:
- Harm to another individual;
- Injury to another individual; or
- Damage to property;
- c. Physically abusing a teacher or another student; or
- d. Any other similar action that presents a physical danger or a threat of physical danger to a teacher or another student.

No student shall by the use of violence, force, noise, coercion, threat, intimidation, fear, passive resistance, or any other conduct, intentionally cause the disruption of any lawful mission, process, or function of the school, or engage in any such conduct for the purpose of causing disruption or obstruction of any lawful mission, process, or function. Nor shall any student encourage any other student to engage in such activities.

Disorderly activities by any student or group of students that adversely affect the school's orderly educational environment shall not be tolerated at any time on school grounds. Teachers may remove from class and send to the principal or principal's designee office a student whose behavior is so unruly, disruptive, or abusive that it seriously interferes with the teacher's ability to teach the students, the class, or with the ability of the student's classmates to learn. Students who refuse to leave the classroom voluntarily will be escorted from the classroom by the school administration.

A teacher may, but is not required to, remove a student from class:

- Who has been documented by the teacher as repeatedly interfering with the teacher's ability to teach the students in the class or with the ability of the student's classmates to learn; or
- Whose behavior is so unruly, disruptive, violent, or abusive that it seriously interferes with the teacher's ability to teach the students, the class, or with the ability of the student's classmates to learn.

A student who is removed from class shall:

- Be sent to the office of the principal or the principal's designee;
- Be escorted from the classroom by the school administration if the student refuses to leave the classroom voluntarily;
- Not be returned to the teacher's class until a conference is held; and
- Be placed in another appropriate classroom learning environment until the conference is completed.

The conference shall be held for the purpose of:

- 1. Determining the causes of the problem that led to the student's removal and possible solutions:
- 2. Serving as a manifestation determination review if the student removed from the class is a student with a disability;
- 3. Determining if a behavioral threat assessment is necessary for the student who was removed from the class due to violent behavior.

The following individuals shall be present at the conference:

- a. The principal or the principal's designee;
- b. The teacher;
- c. The school counselor;
- d. A 504/special education representative (if applicable);
- e. The parents, legal guardians, persons having lawful control of the student, or persons standing in loco parentis; and
- f. The student, if appropriate.

The failure of the parents, legal guardians, persons having lawful control of the student, or persons standing in loco parentis to attend the conference shall not prevent the conference from being held nor prevent any action from being taken as a result of that conference.

Following the conclusion of the conference, the principal or the principal's designee may take any of the following actions against a student who was removed from class:

- Place the student into another appropriate learning environment or into in-school suspension;
- Except for a student who was removed for violent or abusive behavior, return the student to the class; or
- Take other appropriate action consistent with the District's discipline policy, state law, and federal law.

A student who is removed from class three (3) times during the same school year shall be placed in another appropriate learning environment for the remainder of the school year.

The District shall follow all requirements under the IDEA and 504 for students with a disability, including those surrounding a change in placement.

#### **Fireworks**

A student shall not possess, handle, or store firecrackers, smoke bombs, cherry bombs, or any other kind of fireworks that could be a danger to him or to other students, or could cause damage to school property or disrupt the learning climate of the school.

#### **Forgeries and Cheating**

No student shall forge any writing or attempt to employ as true any forged writing knowing it to be forged.

#### **Gambling**

A student shall not participate in any activity that may be termed gambling or wagering where the stakes are money or any other object of value.

#### Harassment of students or employees, which shall include but is not limited to:

- 1. Speech, such as epithets, derogatory comments or slurs, and lewd propositioning on the basis of race, sex, religion, national origin, ancestry, disability, medical condition, marital status, age, or sexual orientation.
- 2. Physical acts, such as assault, impeding or blocking movement, offensive touching, or any physical interference with normal school activities or learning environment when directed at an individual on the basis of race, sex, religion, national origin, ancestry, disability, medical condition, marital status, age, or sexual orientation.
- 3. Visual insults, such as derogatory posters, cartoons, or drawings related to race, sex, religion, national origin, ancestry, disability,
- 4. Medical condition, marital status, age, or sexual orientation.

**Immorality** - A student shall abstain from indecent and immoral acts.

#### **Insubordination:**

Students will be considered insubordinate when they refuse to obey any rule or regulation of the school or school district, or the reasonable instructions of school district personnel.

**Personal Relations** - It is the school's intended purpose to encourage healthy social development. Students will refrain from personal displays of affection (PDA).

#### Pornography:

Students shall not possess, view, distribute, or attempt to electronically transmit sexually explicit or vulgar images or representations, whether electronically, on a storage device, or in hard copy form.

#### Theft

A student shall not steal or attempt to steal property belonging to the school or any individual property while under the jurisdiction of the school. When public or private property has been stolen or damaged, the school will work through parents to recover reasonable compensation for damages to that property.

#### Verbal Abuse and Vulgarities

No student shall curse or verbally abuse anyone or use vulgar, profane, indecent, or inappropriate language or gestures nor shall any student be subjected to such verbal abuse from any source.

#### Violation of Laws, Rules, and Regulations

While on school property, or at any school function, a student shall not violate any laws or rules and regulations of the school. Also, students shall not violate any statutory or constitutional regulations. (School penalties may be imposed in addition to any penalties imposed by the courts.)

# Possession of any Firearm or any Other Weapon

Prohibited on School Property (Act 104 of 1983 Special Session).

A student shall not possess, handle or transport a knife, razor, dirk, box cutter, nun chucks, ice pick, pepper spray, mace, explosive, pistol, rifle, shotgun, taser, or any other object that can be considered a weapon or dangerous instrument. Any student who has used or threatens to use any of the above-mentioned objects to inflict physical injury to any person on campus, or at school functions at any time, will be suspended and recommended for expulsion (Required Act 567 of 1995).

Possession means having a weapon on the student's body or in an area under his/her control. If, prior to any questioning or search by any school personnel, a student discovers that he/she has accidentally brought a weapon to school including a weapon that is in a vehicle on school grounds, and the student informs the principal or a staff person immediately, the student will not be considered to be in possession of a weapon. The weapon shall be confiscated and held in the designated area until such time as the student's parent/legal guardian shall pick up the weapon from the school's designated area. However, repeated "inadvertent firearms" will not be tolerated and shall be grounds for disciplinary actions against the student as otherwise provided for in this policy.

Act 1150 of 1999 states that all school districts shall adopt a written policy regarding expulsion of a student for possessing a firearm or other prohibited weapon on school property which shall require parents, guardians, or other persons in loco parentis of a student expelled for such violation, to sign a statement acknowledging that the parents have read and understand current laws regarding the possibility of parental responsibility for allowing a child to possess a weapon on school property. This statement shall be signed prior to readmitting a student or enrolling a student in any public school immediately after the expiration of an expulsion period.

A student shall not possess, handle, or store contraband materials while on school property or at a school-sponsored event. Act 567 of 1995 requires expulsion for a period of not less than one year for possession of any firearm or other weapon prohibited upon the school campus by law; however, the superintendent shall have discretion to modify such expulsion requirements for a student on a case-to-case basis.

#### Possession/Distribution of Alcohol/Drugs (Act 104 of 1983 Special Session)

- 1. A student shall not possess, sell, use, transmit, or be under the influence of any narcotic drug, hallucinogenic drug, amphetamine, barbiturate, marijuana, or other controlled substance, as defined in Act 390 of 1971 of State of Arkansas, as amended, or beverage containing alcohol or intoxicant of any kind.
- 2. Controlled substances may be possessed and used by a student who has a prescription for the substance; provided the substance remains in the container in which it was obtained from the pharmacist. All medications should be taken to the office in the morning and kept there until after school.

Act 612 provides that sentences for sale of controlled substances within 1000 feet of public or private schools or colleges shall be enhanced by two years and a fine of no less than \$1000. School officials will be expected to cooperate fully with law enforcement agencies and judicial bodies in the investigation and resolution of drug-related or alcohol related cases involving students, even though the offenses may not have taken place on school property or a school activity.

#### **Tobacco Products**

The use, possession, or distribution of tobacco products is prohibited in accordance with Arkansas Statute 6-21-609.

- 1. Smoking/Chewing is considered a hazard by medical authorities. No tobacco products will be allowed on school campus. There is to be NO SMOKING or DIPPING. Students violating this policy will be disciplined. *Act A.C.A. 6-21-609 of 1997*
- Smoking or use of tobacco products or products containing tobacco in any form, in or on any property owned or leased by a public-school district, including school buses, is prohibited. Including "E" cigarette or vape products.
- Any person violating the provisions of this section shall be guilty of a misdemeanor and, upon conviction thereof, shall be punished by a fine of not less than ten dollars (\$10.00) nor more than one hundred dollars (\$100.00).

#### **Gang-Related Activity**

Gangs, secret societies, or other similar groups, whether organized in the community or in another setting, are prohibited on the school grounds and campus and at any school-sponsored activity. Gang-related activity, whether genuine or a pretense, that is identified by school officials will result in a minimum of five days Out-of-School Suspension up to a maximum of expulsion for the remainder of the semester. A second offense of gang-related activity will result in a recommendation for expulsion for the remainder of the semester, the remainder of the school year, for one calendar year, or permanently.

Students who are arrested for gang-related offenses, regardless of where the offense may have occurred, may be expelled for the remainder of the semester, for the remainder of the school year, for one calendar year or permanently, depending on the circumstances of the arrest. Gang-related activities include but are not limited to such activities as wearing apparel associated with gangs, displaying gang insignia, "thrown signs" or other gestures or language (however expressed) associated with gangs, intimidation, and threats.

#### **Sexual Harassment**

The Ozark Mountain School District is committed to providing an academic environment that treats all students with respect and dignity. Student achievement is best attained in an atmosphere of equal educational opportunity that is free of discrimination. Sexual harassment is a form of discrimination that undermines the integrity of the educational environment and will not be tolerated.

The District believes the best policy to create an educational environment free from sexual harassment is prevention; therefore, the District shall provide informational materials and training to students, parents/legal guardians/other responsible adults, and employees on sexual harassment. The informational materials and training on sexual harassment shall be age appropriate and, when necessary, provided in a language other than English or in an accessible format. The informational materials and training shall include, but are not limited to:

- The nature of sexual harassment;
- The District's written procedures governing the formal complaint grievance process;<sup>1</sup>
- The process for submitting a formal complaint of sexual harassment;
- That the district does not tolerate sexual harassment;
- That students can report inappropriate behavior of a sexual nature without fear of adverse consequences;
- The supports that are available to individuals suffering sexual harassment; and
- The potential discipline for perpetrating sexual harassment.

#### **Definitions**

"Complainant" means an individual who is alleged to be the victim of conduct that could constitute sexual harassment.

"Education program or activity" includes locations, events, or circumstances where the District exercised substantial control over both the respondent and the context in which the sexual harassment occurs.

"Formal complaint" means a document filed by a complainant or signed by the Title IX Coordinator alleging sexual harassment against a respondent and requesting an investigation of the allegation of sexual harassment.

"Respondent" means an individual who has been reported to be the perpetrator of conduct that could constitute sexual harassment.

"Sexual harassment" means conduct on the basis of sex that satisfies one or more of the following:

- 1. A District employee:
- a. Conditions the provision of an aid, benefit, or service of the District on an individual's participation in sexual conduct;<sup>2</sup> or
- b. Uses the rejection of sexual conduct as the basis for academic decisions affecting that individual:<sup>2</sup>
- 2. The conduct is:
- a. Unwelcome; and
- b. Determined by a reasonable person to be so severe, pervasive, and objectively offensive that it effectively denies a person equal access to the District's education program or activity; or
- 3. Constitutes:
- a. Sexual assault;
- b. Dating violence
- c. Domestic violence; or
- d. Stalking.

"Supportive measures" means individualized services that are offered to the complainant or made available to the respondent designed to restore or preserve equal access to the District's education program or activity without unreasonably burdening the other party. The supportive measures must be non-disciplinary and non-punitive in nature; offered before or after the filing of a formal complaint or where no formal complaint has been filed; and offered to either party as appropriate, as reasonably available, and without fee or charge. Examples of supportive measures include, but are not limited to: measures designed to protect the safety of all parties or the District's educational environment, or deter sexual harassment; counseling; extensions of deadlines or other course-related adjustments; modifications of work or class schedules; campus escort services; mutual restrictions on contact between the parties; changes in work or class locations; leaves of absence; and increased security and monitoring of certain areas of the campus.

Within the educational environment, sexual harassment is prohibited between any of the following: students; employees and students; and non-employees and students.

Actionable sexual harassment is generally established when an individual is exposed to a pattern of objectionable behaviors or when a single, serious act is committed. What is, or is not, sexual harassment will depend upon all of the surrounding circumstances and may occur regardless of the sex(es) of the individuals involved. Depending upon such circumstances, examples of sexual harassment include, but are not limited to:

- Making sexual propositions or pressuring for sexual activities;
- Unwelcome touching;
- Writing graffiti of a sexual nature;
- Displaying or distributing sexually explicit drawings, pictures, or written materials;
- Performing sexual gestures or touching oneself sexually in front of others;
- Telling sexual or crude jokes;
- Spreading rumors related to a person's alleged sexual activities;
- Discussions of sexual experiences;
- Rating other students or employees as to sexual activity or performance;
- Circulating or showing e-mails or Web sites of a sexual nature;
- Intimidation by words, actions, insults, or name calling; and
- Teasing or name-calling related to sexual characteristics or the belief or perception that an individual is not conforming to expected gender roles or conduct or is homosexual, regardless of whether or not the individual self-identifies as homosexual or transgender.

Students who believe they have been subjected to sexual harassment, or the parent/legal guardian/other responsible adult of a student who believes their student has been subjected to sexual harassment, are encouraged to bring their concerns to **any** District staff member, including a counselor, teacher, Title IX coordinator, or administrator. If the District staff member who received a report of alleged sexual harassment is not the Title IX Coordinator, then the District staff person shall inform the Title IX Coordinator of the alleged sexual harassment. As soon as reasonably possible after receiving a report of alleged sexual harassment from another District staff member or after receiving a report directly through any means, the Title IX Coordinator shall contact the complainant to:

- Discuss the availability of supportive measures;
- Consider the complainant's wishes with respect to supportive measures;
- Inform the complainant of the availability of supportive measures with or without the filing of a formal complaint; and
- explain to the complainant the process for filing a formal complaint.

#### **Supportive Measures**

The District shall offer supportive measures to the complainant and make supportive measures available to the respondent that are designed to restore or preserve equal access to the District's education program or activity without unreasonably burdening the other party before or after the filing of a formal complaint or where no formal complaint has been filed. The District shall provide individualized supportive measures to the complainant unless declined in writing by the complainant and shall provide individualized supportive measures that are non-disciplinary ad non-punitive to the respondent. A complainant who initially declined the District's offer of supportive measures may request supportive measures at a later time and the District shall provide individualized supportive measures based on the circumstances when the subsequent request is received.

#### **Formal Complaint**

A formal complaint may be filed with the Title IX Coordinator in person, by mail, or by email. Upon receipt of a formal complaint, a District shall simultaneously provide the following written notice to the parties who are known:

- Notice of the District's grievance process and a copy of the procedures governing the grievance process;
- O Notice of the allegations of sexual harassment including sufficient details known at the time and with sufficient time to prepare a response before any initial interview. Sufficient details include:
- The identities of the parties involved in the incident, if known;
- ♣ The conduct allegedly constituting sexual harassment; and
- ♣ The date and location of the alleged incident, if known;
- A statement that the respondent is presumed not responsible for the alleged conduct and that a determination regarding responsibility is made at the conclusion of the grievance process;
- That the parties may have an advisor of their choice, who may be, but is not required to be, an attorney;
- That the parties may inspect and review evidence relevant to the complaint of sexual harassment; and
- That the District's code of conduct prohibits knowingly making false statements or knowingly submitting false information during the grievance process.

If, in the course of an investigation, the District decides to investigate allegations about the complainant or respondent that are not included in the previous notice, the District shall simultaneously provide notice of the additional allegations to the parties whose identities are known.

The District may consolidate formal complaints of allegations of sexual harassment where the allegations of sexual harassment arise out of the same facts or circumstances and the formal complaints are against more than one respondent; or by more than one complainant against one or more respondents; or by one party against the other party. When the District has consolidated formal complaints so that the grievance process involves more than one complainant or more than one respondent, references to the singular "party", "complainant", or "respondent" include the plural, as applicable.

When investigating a formal complaint and throughout the grievance process, a District shall:

- Ensure that the burden of proof and the burden of gathering evidence sufficient to reach a determination regarding responsibility rest on the District and not on the parties;
- Not require, allow, rely upon, or otherwise use questions or evidence that constitute, or seek disclosure of, information protected under a legally recognized privilege or access, consider, disclose, or otherwise use a party's records that are made or maintained by a physician, psychiatrist, psychologist, or other recognized professional or paraprofessional acting in the professional's or paraprofessional's capacity, or assisting in that capacity, and which are made and maintained in connection with the provision of treatment to the party unless the District obtains the parent, legal guardian, or other responsible adult of that party's voluntary, written consent or that party's voluntary, written consent if the party is over the age of eighteen (18) to do so for the grievance process;
- Provide an equal opportunity for the parties to present witnesses, including fact and expert witnesses, and other inculpatory and exculpatory evidence;
- Not restrict the ability of either party to discuss the allegations under investigation or to gather and present relevant evidence;

- Provide the parties with the same opportunities to have others present during any grievance proceeding, including the opportunity to be accompanied to any related meeting or proceeding by the advisor of their choice, who may be, but is not required to be, an attorney, and not limit the choice or presence of advisor for either the complainant or respondent in any meeting or grievance proceeding;
- Provide, to a party whose participation is invited or expected, written notice of the date, time, location, participants, and purpose of all hearings, investigative interviews, or other meetings, with sufficient time for the party to prepare to participate;
- Provide both parties an equal opportunity to inspect and review any evidence obtained as part of the investigation that is directly related to the allegations raised in the formal complaint so that each party can meaningfully respond to the evidence prior to the conclusion of the investigation; this includes evidence:
- Whether obtained from a party or other source;
- The District does not intend to rely upon in reaching a determination regarding responsibility; and
- That is either Inculpatory or exculpatory; and
- Create an investigative report that fairly summarizes relevant evidence.

At least ten (10)<sup>3</sup> days prior to completion of the investigative report, the District shall send to each party and the party's advisor, if any, the evidence subject to inspection and review in an electronic format or a hard copy. The parties shall have at least ten (10)<sup>3</sup> days to submit a written response to the evidence. The investigator will consider the written responses prior to completion of the investigative report. All evidence subject to inspection and review shall be available for the parties' inspection and review at any meeting to give each party equal opportunity to refer to such evidence during the meeting.

After the investigative report is sent to the parties, the decision-maker shall:

- Provide each party the opportunity to submit written, relevant questions that a party wants asked of any party or witness;
- Provide each party with the answers:
- Allow for additional, limited follow-up questions from each party; and
- O Provide an explanation to the party proposing the questions any decision to exclude a question as not relevant. Specifically, questions and evidence about the complainant's sexual predisposition or prior sexual behavior are not relevant, unless such questions and evidence about the complainant's prior sexual behavior are offered to prove that someone other than the respondent committed the conduct alleged by the complainant, or if the questions and evidence concern specific incidents of the complainant's prior sexual behavior with respect to the respondent and are offered to prove consent.

No earlier than ten (10) days following the completion of the investigation period, the decision-maker, who cannot be the same person as the Title IX Coordinator or the investigator, shall issue a written determination regarding responsibility. The written determination shall include—

- 1. Identification of the allegations potentially constituting sexual harassment;
- 2. A description of the procedural steps taken from the receipt of the formal complaint through the determination, including:
- a. Any notifications to the parties;

- b. Interviews with parties and witnesses;
- c. site visits;
- d. Methods used to gather other evidence; and
- e. Hearings held;
- 3. Findings of fact supporting the determination;
- 4. Conclusions regarding the application of the District's code of conduct to the facts;
- 5. A statement of, and rationale for, the result as to each allegation, including:
- a. A determination regarding responsibility;
- b. Any disciplinary sanctions imposed on the respondent; and
- c. Whether remedies designed to restore or preserve equal access to the District's education program or activity will be provided by the District to the complainant; and
- 6. The procedures and permissible bases for the complainant and respondent to appeal.

The written determination shall be provided to the parties simultaneously. The determination regarding responsibility shall become final on the earlier of:

- If an appeal is not filed, the day after the period for an appeal to be filed expires; or
- If an appeal is filed, the date the written determination of the result of the appeal is provided to the parties.

The District shall investigate the allegations in a formal complaint. If the conduct alleged in the formal complaint would not constitute sexual harassment as defined in this policy even if proved; did not occur in the District's education program or activity; or did not occur against a person in the United States, then the District shall dismiss the complaint as not meeting the definition of sexual harassment under this policy. A dismissal for these reasons does not preclude action under another provision of the District's code of conduct.

The District may dismiss the formal complaint or any allegations therein, if at any time during the grievance process:

- The complainant notifies the Title IX Coordinator in writing that the complainant would like to withdraw the formal complaint or any allegations therein;
- The respondent is no longer enrolled at the District; or
- Specific circumstances prevent the District from gathering evidence sufficient to reach a determination as to the formal complaint or allegations therein.

Upon the dismissal of a formal complaint for any reason, the District shall promptly send written notice of the dismissal and reason(s) for the dismissal simultaneously to the parties.

The District may hire an individual or individuals to conduct the investigation or to act as the determination-maker when necessary.

#### **Appeals**

Either party may appeal a determination regarding responsibility or from a dismissal of a formal complaint or any allegations therein, on the following bases:

a. The existence of a procedural irregularity that affected the outcome of the matter;

- b. Discovery of new evidence that was not reasonably available at the time the determination regarding responsibility or dismissal was made, that could affect the outcome of the matter;
- c. The Title IX Coordinator, investigator, or decision-maker had a conflict of interest or bias for or against complainants or respondents generally or the individual complainant or respondent that affected the outcome of the matter; or
- d. An appeal of the disciplinary sanctions from the initial determination.<sup>4</sup>

For all appeals, the District shall:

- 1. Notify the other party in writing when an appeal is filed;
- 2. Simultaneously Provide all parties a written copy of the District's procedures governing the appeal process;
- 3. Implement appeal procedures equally for both parties;
- 4. Ensure that the decision-maker<sup>5</sup> for the appeal is not the same person as the decision-maker that reached the original determination regarding responsibility or dismissal, the investigator, or the Title IX Coordinator;
- 5. Provide all parties a reasonable, equal opportunity to submit a written statement in support of, or challenging, the outcome;
- 6. Issue a written decision describing the result of the appeal and the rationale for the result; and
- 7. Provide the written decision simultaneously to both parties.

#### **Confidentiality**

Reports of sexual harassment, both informal reports and formal complaints, will be treated in a confidential manner to the extent possible. Limited disclosure may be provided to:

- Individuals who are responsible for handling the District's investigation and determination of responsibility to the extent necessary to complete the District's grievance process;
- Submit a report to the child maltreatment hotline;
- Submit a report to the Professional Licensure Standards Board for reports alleging sexual harassment by an employee towards a student; or
- The extent necessary to provide either party due process during the grievance process.<sup>5</sup>

Except as listed above, the District shall keep confidential the identity of:

- Any individual who has made a report or complaint of sex discrimination;
- 4 Any individual who has made a report or filed a formal complaint of sexual harassment;
- Any complainant;
- Any individual who has been reported to be the perpetrator of sex discrimination;
- ♣ Any respondent; and
- Any witness.

Any supportive measures provided to the complainant or respondent shall be kept confidential to the extent that maintaining such confidentiality does not impair the ability of the District to provide the supportive measures.

### Emergency removal<sup>6</sup>

The District may remove a respondent from the District's education program or activity on an emergency basis only after the completion of an individualized safety and risk analysis that determines that an immediate threat to the physical health or safety of any student or other individual arising from the allegations of sexual harassment justifies removal. A removed student will be provided with notice and an opportunity to challenge the removal decision immediately following the removal.

#### **Retaliation Prohibited**

Students, or the parents/legal guardians/ other responsible adult of a student, who submit a report or file a formal complaint of sexual harassment,; testified; assisted; or participate or refused to participate in any manner in an investigation, proceeding, or hearing on sexual harassment shall not be subjected to retaliation or reprisal in any form, including threats; intimidation; coercion; discrimination; or charges for code of conduct violations that do not involve sex discrimination or sexual harassment, arise out of the same facts or circumstances as a report or formal complaint of sex discrimination, and are made for the purpose of interfering with any right or privilege under this policy. The District shall take steps to prevent retaliation and shall take immediate action if any form of retaliation occurs regardless of whether the retaliatory acts are by District officials, students, or third parties.

#### **Disciplinary Sanctions**

It shall be a violation of this policy for any student to be subjected to, or to subject another person to, sexual harassment. Following the completion of the District's grievance process, any student who is found by the evidence to more likely than not<sup>7</sup> have engaged in sexual harassment will be subject to disciplinary action up to, and including, expulsion. No disciplinary sanction or other action that is not a supportive measure may be taken against a respondent until the conclusion of the grievance process.

Students who knowingly fabricate allegations of sexual harassment or purposely provide inaccurate facts shall be subject to disciplinary action up to and including expulsion. A determination that the allegations do not rise to the level of sexual harassment alone is not sufficient to conclude that any party made a false allegation or materially false statement in bad faith.

#### Records

The District shall maintain the following records for a minimum of seven (7) years:

- Each sexual harassment investigation including:
- Any determination regarding responsibility;
- any disciplinary sanctions imposed on the respondent;
- Any remedies provided to the complainant designed to restore or preserve equal access to the District's education program or activity;
- Any appeal and the result therefrom;
- All materials used to train Title IX Coordinators, investigators, and decision-makers;
- Any actions, including any supportive measures, taken in response to a report or formal complaint of sexual harassment, which must include:

- The basis for the District's conclusion that its response was not deliberately indifferent; and
- o Document:
- If supportive measures were provided to the complainant, the supportive measures taken designed to restore or preserve equal access to the District's education program or activity; or
- If no supportive measures were provided to a complainant, document the reasons why such a response was not clearly unreasonable in light of the known circumstances.

#### **Bullying**

Respect for the dignity of others is a cornerstone of civil society. Bullying creates an atmosphere of fear and intimidation, robs a person of his/her dignity, detracts from the safe environment necessary to promote student learning, and will not be tolerated by the Board of Directors. Students who bully another person shall be held accountable for their actions whether they occur on school equipment or property; off school property at a school sponsored or approved function, activity, or event; going to or from school or a school activity in a school vehicle or school bus; or at designated school bus stops.

#### **Definitions:**

"Attribute" means an actual or perceived personal characteristic including without limitation race, color, religion, ancestry, national origin, socioeconomic status, academic status, disability, gender, gender identity, physical appearance, health condition, or sexual orientation;

"Bullying" means the intentional harassment, intimidation, humiliation, ridicule, defamation, or threat or incitement of violence by a student against another student or public school employee by a written, verbal, electronic, or physical act that may address an attribute of the other student, public school employee, or person with whom the other student or public school employee is associated and that causes or creates actual or reasonably foreseeable:

- 1. May address an attribute of the other student, public school employee, or person with whom the other student or public school employee is associated;
- 2. Involves an actual or reasonably perceived power imbalance;
- 3. Is repeated or has a high likelihood of repetition; and
- 4. Causes or creates actual or reasonably foreseeable:
- Physical harm to a public school employee or student or damage to the public school employee's or student's property;
- Substantial interference with a student's education or with a public school employee's role in education:

- A hostile educational environment for one (1) or more students or public school employees due to the severity, persistence, or pervasiveness of the act; or
- Substantial disruption of the orderly operation of the school or educational environment;

"

Examples of "Bullying" include, but are not limited to, a pattern of behavior involving one or more of the following:

- 1. Cyberbullying;
- 2. Sarcastic comments "compliments" about another student's personal appearance or actual or perceived attributes,
- 3. Pointed questions intended to embarrass or humiliate,
- 4. Mocking, taunting or belittling,
- 5. Non-verbal threats and/or intimidation such as "fronting" or "chesting" a person,
- 6. Demeaning humor relating to a student's actual or perceived attributes,
- 7. Blackmail, extortion, demands for protection money or other involuntary donations or loans,
- 8. Blocking access to school property or facilities,
- 9. Deliberate physical contact or injury to person or property,
- 10. Stealing or hiding books or belongings,
- 11. Threats of harm to student(s), possessions, or others,
- 12. Sexual harassment, as governed by policy 4.27, is also a form of bullying, and/or
- 13. Teasing or name-calling related to sexual characteristics or the belief or perception that an individual is not conforming to expected gender roles or conduct or is homosexual, regardless of whether the student self-identifies as homosexual or transgender.

"Cyberbullying" means any form of communication by electronic act that is sent with the purpose to:

- Harass, intimidate, humiliate, ridicule, defame, or threaten a student, school employee, or person with whom the other student or school employee is associated; or
- Incite violence towards a student, school employee, or person with whom the other student or school employee is associated.

Cyberbullying of School Employees includes, but is not limited to:

- a. Building a fake profile or website of the employee;
- b. Posting or encouraging others to post on the Internet private, personal, or sexual information pertaining to a school employee;
- c. Posting an original or edited image of the school employee on the Internet;
- d. Accessing, altering, or erasing any computer network, computer data program, or computer software, including breaking into a password-protected account or stealing or otherwise accessing passwords of a school employee;
- e. Making repeated, continuing, or sustained electronic communications, including electronic mail or transmission, to a school employee;
- f. Making, or causing to be made, and disseminating an unauthorized copy of data pertaining to a school employee in any form, including without limitation the printed or electronic form of computer data, computer programs, or computer software residing in, communicated by, or produced by a computer or computer network;
- g. Signing up a school employee for a pornographic Internet site; or
- h. Without authorization of the school employee, signing up a school employee for electronic mailing lists or to receive junk electronic messages and instant messages.

Cyberbullying is prohibited whether or not the cyberbullying originated on school property or with school equipment, if the cyberbullying results in the substantial disruption of the orderly operation of the school or educational environment or is directed specifically at students or school personnel and maliciously intended for the purpose of disrupting school and has a high likelihood of succeeding in that purpose.

"Harassment" means a pattern of unwelcome verbal or physical conduct relating to another person's constitutionally or statutorily protected status that causes, or reasonably should be expected to cause, substantial interference with the other's performance in the school environment; and

- "Substantial disruption" means without limitation that any one or more of the following occur as a result of the bullying:
- · Necessary cessation of instruction or educational activities;
- ·Inability of students or educational staff to focus on learning or function as an educational unit because of a hostile environment:
- ·Severe or repetitive disciplinary measures are needed in the classroom or during educational activities; or

•Exhibition of other behaviors by students or educational staff that substantially interfere with the learning environment.

Respect for the dignity of others is a cornerstone of civil society. Bullying creates an atmosphere of fear and intimidation, robs a person of his/her dignity, detracts from the safe environment necessary to promote student learning, and will not be tolerated by the Board of Directors. Students who bully another person shall be held accountable for their actions whether they occur on school equipment or property; off school property at a school sponsored or approved function, activity, or event; going to or from school or a school activity in a school vehicle or school bus; or at designated school bus stops.

Students are encouraged to report behavior they consider to be bullying, including a single action which if allowed to continue would constitute bullying, to their teacher or the building principal. The report may be made anonymously. Teachers and other school employees who have witnessed, or are reliably informed that, a student has been a victim of behavior they consider to be bullying, including a single action which if allowed to continue would constitute bullying, shall report the incident(s) to the building principal, or designee, as soon as possible. Parents or legal guardians may submit written reports of incidents they feel constitute bullying, or if allowed to continue would constitute bullying, to the building principal, or designee.

The person or persons reporting behavior they consider to be bullying shall not be subject to retaliation or reprisal in any form.

A building principal, or designee, who receives a credible report or complaint of bullying shall:

- 1. As soon as reasonably practicable, but by no later than the end of the school day following the receipt of the credible report of bullying:
- a. Report to a parent, legal guardian, person having lawful control of a student, or person standing in loco parentis of a student that their student is the victim in a credible report of bullying; and
- b. Prepare a written report of the alleged incident of bullying;
- 2. Promptly investigate the credible report or complaint of bullying, which shall be completed by no later than the fifth (5<sup>th</sup>) school day following the completion of the written report.
- 3. Notify within five (5) days following the completion of the investigation the parent, legal guardian, person having lawful control of a student, or person standing in loco parentis of a student who was the alleged victim in a credible report of bullying whether the investigation found the credible report or complaint of bullying to be true and the availability of counseling and other intervention services.

- 4. Notify within five (5) days following the completion of the investigation the parent, legal guardian, person having lawful control of the student, or person acting in loco parentis of the student who is alleged to have been the perpetrator of the incident of bullying:
- a. That a credible report or complaint of bullying against their student exists;
- b. Whether the investigation found the credible report or complaint of bullying to be true;
- c. Whether action was taken against their student upon the conclusion of the investigation of the alleged incident of bullying; and
- d. Information regarding the reporting of another alleged incident of bullying, including potential consequences of continued incidents of bullying;
- 5. Make a written record of the investigation, which shall include:
- a. A detailed description of the alleged incident of bullying, including without limitation a detailed summary of the statements from all material witnesses to the alleged incident of bullying;
- b. Any action taken as a result of the investigation; and
- 6. Discuss, as appropriate, the availability of counseling and other intervention services with students involved in the incident of bullying.

Students found to be in violation of this policy shall be subject to disciplinary action up to and including expulsion. In determining the appropriate disciplinary action, consideration may be given to other violations of the student handbook which may have simultaneously occurred. In addition to any disciplinary actions, the District shall take appropriate steps to remedy the effects resulting from bullying.

Notice of what constitutes bullying, the District's prohibition against bullying, and the consequences for students who bully shall be conspicuously posted in every classroom, cafeteria, restroom, gymnasium, auditorium, and school bus.<sup>2</sup> Parents, legal guardians, person having lawful control of a student, persons standing in loco parentis, students, school volunteers, and employees shall be given copies of the notice annually.<sup>3</sup>

The superintendent shall make a report annually to the Board of Directors on student discipline data, which shall include, without limitation, the number of incidents of bullying reported and the actions taken regarding the reported incidents of bullying.

To prevent multiple, simultaneous investigations into the same alleged conduct, if the facts that support an alleged incident of bullying may also constitute a violation of another District policy; State or Federal law; State rule; or Federal regulation, then the District shall investigate and dispose of the alleged incident of bullying in accordance with the other applicable District policy; State or Federal law; State rule; or federal regulation in lieu of the requirements of this policy.

#### **Conduct to and from School**

- A. Students are subject to the same rules of conduct while traveling to and from school as they are while on school grounds. Appropriate disciplinary actions may be taken against commuting students who violate student code of conduct rules.
- B. The preceding paragraph also applies to student conduct while on school buses. The driver of a school bus shall not operate the school bus until every passenger is seated. Disciplinary measures for problems related to bus behavior shall include suspension or expulsion from school, or suspending or terminating the student's transportation privileges. Transporting students to and from school who have lost their transportation privileges shall become the responsibility of the student's parent or legal guardian and are not subject to appeal. Legal Reference: A.C.A. § 6-19-119 (b)

# **School Bus Passenger and Safety Conduct**

- A. Please review these rules for conduct with your child and be sure he/she understands them. Buses are full, and the drivers have little time to watch children. They were hired to *drive*. The school bus is an extension of the school. It is a valuable and expensive item of equipment and proper attitudes must be developed for its use and care. Parents should impress on students the correct procedure in establishing a safe route to the bus stop. Develop proper attitudes and understanding of the right-of-way of motorists. Point out how unsafe acts can lead to accidents.
- B. Bus service is not a right, but a privilege which may be revoked. Students who are eligible to ride may ride as long as they control themselves and abide by the rules.
- C. Passengers on school buses must conduct themselves so that their actions do not place in jeopardy the safety and wellbeing of themselves or any other individual.
- D. Video cameras may be used on the bus to assist in monitoring student behaviors. In the event that misconduct occurs, authorized personnel shall implement procedures as outlined by the superintendent. If misconduct is of serious enough nature to warrant withdrawing the privilege of riding the bus from the individual, Student Discipline Policy 7.10.3 shall be applied. The following "Rules for Bus Passenger's Conduct" shall be used in informing students of acceptable behavior.

#### **Guidelines for bus discipline**

- 1. Students must ride their assigned bus and are responsible for their possessions.
- 2. Be on time; arrive at the bus stop at least 5 minutes early. Parents and students: remember the driver is not required to wait for any student to board the bus.
- 3. Do not stand or play on the road while waiting for the bus. Stand back 10 feet from the roadway while waiting for the bus.
- 4. If students must cross the roadway to board the bus, look in both directions for traffic and wait until the bus driver signals before crossing the road. Students should walk in front of the bus in single file, do not run. Enter the bus without crowding or disturbing others.
- 5. The first duty of the passengers is to obey the driver's directions promptly. The driver has the same responsibility and authority as a teacher in controlling discipline. There must be an

attitude of respect and cooperation on the part of each student toward the bus driver. Conversation with the driver while the bus is in motion should be kept to a minimum.

- 6. Do not extend your head or arms out of windows. Keep your head, arms, and hands inside the bus at all times. Never open the windows without the driver's permission.
- 7. Be courteous to the driver and to fellow pupils, keeping hands off other people at all times.
- 8. See that your conversation is clean and never loud or boisterous. Talk in normal tones. Use of profane language on a school bus is forbidden by law. Obscene gestures are prohibited.
- 9. Do not consume any food or beverage on the bus.
- 10. Do not call out to passers-by.
- 11. Help keep the bus clean, sanitary, and orderly. Keep the aisle of the bus clear. Keep books, musical instruments, and all other objects on lap or under the seat, not in the aisle.
- 12. Large items such as tubas, science projects, skateboards, etc. cannot be transported on the bus.
- 13. Animals and insects are not to be transported on the bus.
- 14. Do not possess or use any form of tobacco on the bus.
- 15. Do not damage or abuse bus equipment. Keep your feet off the seats.
- 16. Do not loiter in or around a bus while on school grounds.
- 17. Do not leave the bus without the driver's consent, except on arrival at home and at school. Make sure that the road is clear and get the driver's signal when you must cross the road, to and from the bus.
- 18. Keep seated until the bus comes to a complete stop. Enter and leave the bus by the front door ONLY, except in emergencies. Stay in your seat at all times, except when entering and exiting the bus.
- 19. Glass items may NOT be transported on the bus.

#### **Additional Behavior Not Covered**

Ozark Mountain Schools reserve the right to punish behavior which could be reasonably interpreted as being subversive to good order and discipline or which causes the learning atmosphere to deteriorate or be disrupted, even though such behavior is not specified in the preceding written rules.

# SPECIAL EDUCATION

In accordance with the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act (IDEA), Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973, the Americans With Disabilities Act, and Arkansas Statutes, the district shall provide a free appropriate public education and necessary related services to all children with disabilities who reside:

- Within the district boundaries; or
- Outside of the District boundaries but are enrolled in the District.

It is the intent of the district to ensure that students with a disability within the definition of Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973 are identified, evaluated and provided with appropriate educational services. Students may have a disability within the meaning of Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act even though they do not require services pursuant to the IDEA.

For students eligible for services under IDEA, the District shall follow procedures for identification, evaluation, placement, and delivery of services to children with disabilities provided in the state and federal statutes governing special education. Implementation of an Individualized Education Program (IEP) in accordance with the IDEA satisfies the district's obligation to provide a free and appropriate education under Section 504.

The Board directs the superintendent to ensure procedures are in place for the implementation of special education services and that programs are developed to conform to the requirements of state and federal legislation. The superintendent is responsible for appointing a district coordinator for overseeing district fulfillment of its responsibilities regarding students with disabilities. Among the coordinator's responsibilities shall be ensuring district enforcement of the due process rights of students with disabilities and their parents.

# Discipline of Students with a Disability as Identified by the Special Education Program

- A. Students with a disability who engage in misbehavior are subject to normal school disciplinary rules and procedures so long as such treatment does not abridge the right to a free appropriate public education.
- B. The Individualized Education Plan (I.E.P.) team for students with a disability will consider whether particular discipline procedures should be adopted for that student and included in the I.E.P.
- C. Students with a disability will be excluded from school only in emergencies and only for the duration of the emergency. In no case will a student with a disability be excluded for more than ten days in a school year without a proper conference.
- D. After an emergency suspension is imposed on a student with a disability, an immediate meeting of the student's I.E.P. team will be held to determine the cause and effect of the

suspension, with a view toward assessing the effectiveness and appropriateness of the student's placement, and toward minimizing the harm resulting from the exclusion.

- E. The suspended student will be offered alternate educational programming for the duration of the exclusion.
- F. Jeff Treadwell has been designated as a grievance officer for OMSD for the 2025-2026 school year for Act 504. Contact information: Jeff Treadwell, Phone (870) 448-7229 or email: jtreadwell@omsd.k12.ar.us

#### **Due Process**

Every student is entitled to due process in every instance of disciplinary action for which the student may be subjected to penalties of suspension or expulsion. (See Ark. Stat. Ann. 80-1516)

- A. Due process is afforded to students in disciplinary cases of some magnitude such as:
- 1. Suspension from School
- 2. Expulsion from School
- 3. Statement removed from student's records, and
- 4. Clearing one's reputation.
- B. The U.S. Supreme Court ruled in 1975 that, for every suspension not exceeding ten days, the student has the right to be accorded the minimum requirements of the due process clause of the Fourteenth Amendment of the Constitution of the United States.
- C. Due process procedures will be known to all students and must comply with all state and federal laws.
- D. Each school will provide notice to students and parents of charges, hearings, and other due process proceedings. The due process rights of students and parents are as follows:
- 1. Prior to any suspension or expulsion, the school principal or his designee shall advise the pupil in question of the particular misconduct of which he or she is accused, as well as the basis for each accusation.
- 2. The pupil shall be given an opportunity at that time to explain his version of the facts to the school principal or his designee.
- 3. Written notice of suspension or expulsion and the reason (s) for such action shall be given to the parent(s) of the pupil.
- 4. Any parent(s) or legal guardian of a pupil suspended shall have the right to appeal to the superintendent of schools.

It is the stated policy of the Ozark Mountain School District that a grievance procedure, which provides for an orderly method of resolving concerns raised by an employee or patron be handled at the lowest possible administrative level. The following steps are to be used by district employees or patrons to resolve any complaint or grievance:

- 1. Attempt to resolve the matter informally by phone or conference between involved parties.
- 2. If step one fails to resolve, the complaint will begin the grievance procedure in written form at the appropriate level of supervisory personnel.
- 3. Any person involved in this procedure is entitled to third party representation at any level if an advance notice of five (5) days is given to both the other party and the administrator The following timelines are to be used. The time lines may be shortened but not lengthened unless by mutual agreement of all parties.

Inquiries concerning application of this policy may be referred to:

OMSD Grievance Officer Jeff Treadwell 250 Hwy 65 S

# St. Joe, AR 72675 (870) 439-2218

## **Dispute and Complaint Resolution Procedure**

It is the goal of the Board of the District to be responsive to the community it serves and to continuously improve the educational program offered in its schools. The Board of the District encourages the community to be actively engaged in the process and welcomes constructive input in formulating educational policy that will benefit the instruction of all students when it is offered with the intent of improving the quality of the system's educational program or the delivery of the District's services.

The board formulates and adopts policies to achieve the District's vision and elects a Superintendent to implement its policies. The administrative functions of the District are delegated to the Superintendent who is responsible for the effective administration and supervision of the District. Individuals with complaints/grievances concerning personnel, curriculum, discipline, coaching, or the day to day management of the schools need to address those complaints according to the following sequence:

- 1. Teacher, coach, or other staff members against whom the complaint/grievance is directed.
- 2. Principal.
- 3. Superintendent.

Other than in the few instances where statutorily allowed or required, student discipline and personnel matters may not be discussed in Board meetings. Board members shall adhere to a code of ethics that requires that individual members engage in no private action that will compromise the confidentiality of privileged information, and that board members shall remain neutral on all personnel and student matters until the Superintendent presents a recommendation to the entire Board. Individuals with complaints/grievances regarding such matters need to follow the sequence outlined above.

Unless authorized by the Board as a whole for a specific purpose, no individual Board member has any authority when acting alone. District constituents are reminded that the Board serves as jury in matters regarding student suspensions/expulsions and personnel issues which are initiated by the Superintendent. As such, individual board members must avoid responding and/or interaction on a personal level in order to maintain a neutral position in the event the student suspensions, expulsion, or personnel issues require a hearing before the entire Board. The procedure for Public Comment may be secured from the Superintendent's office.

#### **OMSD Grievance Procedure**

The following steps will be used in any complaint or grievance:

Step #1-The complaint must be presented in written form within ten days (two working weeks) of the complaint to the responsible person designated as the grievance officer.

Step #2-The responsible person has five days (one working week) in which to investigate and respond.

Step #3-If not satisfied, the complainant may appeal within ten days (two working weeks) to the Superintendent or his designated officer.

Step #4-Response from the district officer must be given within five days (one working week). Step #5-If the complaint is not satisfied at this level, an appeal may be made within ten days (two working weeks) to the OMSD Board of Education, which will hear the complaint at the next regular meeting or within thirty (30) calendar days. OMSD Board of education hearings shall be

conducted so as to accord due process to all parties involved in the complaint such as written notice of hearing dates and specific charges, right of counsel, right to present witnesses, right to cross examine, and to present written statement. The decision of the Board shall be by majority of the members at a meeting, which shall be public.

Step #6-The OMSD Board of Education will respond to the complainant within thirty (30) calendar days.

Step #7-If the complainant is not satisfied with the OMSD Board of Education's decision, an appeal may be made, within thirty (30) calendar days after receipt of the written decision, to the State Board of Education.

#### **Gifted/Talented Education Program**

**Philosophy**-The Ozark Mountain School District believes that the major outcome of education for gifted and talented students should be the development of each individual's unique gifts and talents. The most productive educational strategy is to help the student modify, adapt, and learn how to discover new facts for him/herself. The nature of gifted and talented students requires an education that differs in the quality of experience provided for them in order to stimulate and challenge them to a maximum achievement. The measure of a successful program for the gifted and talented will be the degree to which they have become productive responsible individuals, aware of their potential, and strong in their self-esteem.

**Definition**- Gifted and talented students are those young people who require differentiated educational programs and services beyond those normally provided by the regular school program in order to realize their contribution to self and society. Possession of these talents and gifts, or the potential for their development, will be evidenced through an interaction of above average academic ability, task commitment, and creative ability.

#### **Identification Procedure**:

Explanation of Intent- The appraisal of any student is a serious task and the Ozark Mountain School District feels that the appraisal process must be undertaken with utmost concern. We further maintain that it is the parent's right to be included in the various steps and appraised of the different outcomes. The district will ensure each student's civil rights and provide a district-wide guide for the nomination, appraisal, and programming of any students with special needs A teacher, counselor, administrator, parent/guardian, or community member may identify a student who is a possible candidate for the GT Program by completing the nomination form. Self-nominations will also be accepted. Students in grades 3-12 may be nominated. Nominations will be accepted any time during the school year.

The nomination form is submitted to the GT Program coordinator or staff. The program staff informs the student of the nomination and explains the selection procedure. The coordinator notifies the parent by letter. Parents are requested to complete the parent permission form and the parent inventory form. Permission is requested to collect relevant data, administer a creativity assessment, and share pertinent data with a professional placement committee. All data collected will be confidential.

If the parents sign and return the permission form, the program coordinator and program staff will gather pertinent data and assemble this data in an informational package using the student's

profile composite form. If the parents do not return the permission form, a conference will be scheduled with the parents and program staff. The nomination procedure will be explained, any parental concerns addressed, and permission from parents again requested. Data should include information concerning academics, creativity, and motivation.

The placement committee will review the informational package concerning the nominated student.

The placement committee, chaired by the program coordinator, will recommend one of the following decisions based on student needs:

- to place in the GT Program.
- not to place in the GT Program.
- to evaluate further.

The student will be notified of the committee's decision (if possible personally by the program staff). Parents will be notified by letter of the committee's decision.

If further evaluation was recommended at the initial meeting, a second placement committee meeting will be held upon completion of further evaluation.

If placement in the GT Program is recommended, parental permission must be obtained. The program coordinator and/or program staff will share pertinent information concerning the nominated student (regardless of placement) with involved classroom teachers. This information may encourage the classroom teachers to address the student's specific needs and interests.

The program coordinator and program staff will share pertinent information concerning the nominated child with parents upon request.

The program coordinator and program staff will review the student's progress annually to update or modify the student's educational plan.

The GT Program staff will assist the classroom teacher in modifying the curriculum in the regular classroom to address the student's specific needs and interests.

#### **Appeals Procedure of Placement Decisions**

If a parent/guardian/student disagrees with the placement committee's decision, he should contact the GT Program Coordinator/Staff and present the concern. If the Program Staff cannot recommend a satisfactory change to the placement committee and the parent/guardian/student is still in disagreement with the decision, they will be asked to present a signed written appeal that follows the District policy on file.

#### ALTERNATIVE LEARNING OPTIONS

## **Virtual Learning Policy**

Our virtual learning pathway will include a different web-based platform than that available to all other OMSD students.

The District may reject a student's request for attendance in the virtual learning program if the District's acceptance would:

- Require the addition of staff or classrooms;
- Exceed the capacity of a program, class, grade level, or school building;
- Cause the District to provide educational services the District does not currently provide;
- Cause the District to be out of compliance with applicable laws and regulations regarding desegregation.

Students who fail all or part of their courses in a semester may not be allowed to continue in the virtual learning program. OMSD reserves the right to transfer students back to on-campus learning should they determine this is not the best placement for the student.

#### **Home Schooling Policy**

The Arkansas General Assembly made it possible for parents to have the option to teach their children at home rather than to send them to public or private school.

No public school student shall be eligible for home schooling if the student is currently under disciplinary action for violation of any written school policy including, but not limited to, excessive unexcused absences. These students may become eligible for home schooling by permission of the Superintendent, the disciplinary action is complete, or expulsion. (Section 2, Act 1117)

Parents are required to make this preference for homeschooling known to the local school district and to file a form of intent by August 15 for the fall semester, or by December 15 for the spring semester. The Ozark Mountain School District has established the following guidelines in working with Home School families and/or accepting Homeschooled Students into its program:

- A. Students who have been homeschooled may be required to take a placement test.
- B. Parents must present a written list of subjects taught and textbooks used to the counselor or principal at the time of registration.
- C. Any student who receives home instruction will not have a letter grade entered on the permanent record. When such a student enrolls in the Ozark Mountain High School, only a "CR", will be entered on the student's transcript to denote Homeschooling credit courses, unless the student has a transcript or report card from an ADE accredited institution.
- D. The maximum credits that will be accepted for each year in attendance in Home Schooling cannot exceed the number of credits earned by a student enrolled in the Ozark Mountain School District during a normal two semester school year.
- E. Grade point average will be determined by dividing the cumulative number of credits earned in ADE accredited public or private school.

- F. The Ozark Mountain School District will not award a diploma to any home-schooled students who have not been in attendance at Ozark Mountain during both semesters of his or her graduation year.
- G. A student must meet all curriculum and attendance requirements of the Ozark Mountain School District to receive a diploma from any Ozark Mountain High School.
- H. No books, or other material, will be issued from Ozark Mountain High School for use in Home School study.

# Extracurricular Activity Eligibility for Virtual Learning and/or Home-Schooled Students Each school in the District shall post on its website its schedule of interscholastic activities, including sign-up, tryout, and participation deadlines, at least one semester in advance of those

activities. A hard copy of the schedule shall be available upon request.

Home-schooled students whose parents or guardians are legal residents of the school district will be permitted to pursue participation in an interscholastic activity in the student's resident school zone as permitted by this policy. Although not guaranteed participation in an interscholastic activity, home-school students who meet the provisions of this policy, AAA Rules, and applicable Arkansas statutes shall have an equal opportunity to try out for and participate in interscholastic activities without discrimination.

The District shall abide by this policy and by the rules contained in the Arkansas Activities Association (AAA) Handbook governing interscholastic activity participation of students who are home-schooled. Areas of eligibility criteria, such as a student's age and semesters of eligibility, are the same for home-schooled and traditional students and are governed by the current AAA Handbook.

Home-schooled student means a student legally enrolled in an Arkansas home school and who meets or has met the criteria for being a homeschooled student, as established by A.C.A. 6-15-503.

Interscholastic activity means an activity between schools subject to regulations of the Arkansas Activities Association that is outside the regular curriculum of the school district, such as an athletic activity, fine arts program, or a special interest group or club.

The parent of any student wishing to participate in an interscholastic activity shall mail or hand deliver a completed application form 5.19.2F to his/her child's school's principal before the signup, tryout or participation deadline established for traditional students. The Superintendent shall approve those applications which meet the enrollment application requirements identified in this policy and AAA Rules and shall deny those that don't meet the requirements.

Approved applications shall apply only for the semester in which the student enrolls in the student's resident school zone. The student shall regularly attend the class in which the student is enrolled beginning no later than the eleventh (11) day of the semester in which the student's interscholastic activity participation is desired. If the student's desired interscholastic activity begins prior to the first day of the semester in which the student is enrolled, to maintain eligibility, the student must attend the practices for the interscholastic activity to the same extent as is required of traditional students.

A homeschooled student whose application has been approved; who has met the try out criteria; and who has been selected to participate in the interscholastic activity shall meet the following criteria that also apply to traditional students enrolled in the school:

• standards of behavior and codes of conduct:

- attend the practices for the interscholastic activity to the same extent as is required of traditional students;
- required drug testing;
- permission slips, waivers, physical exams; and
- participation or activity fees.

A student whose application for eligibility to participate in an interscholastic activity is accepted is required to enroll in no more than one course in the District's school where the student is intending to participate in an interscholastic activity. Home-schooled students shall meet the same enrollment criteria as are required for traditional students in policies 4.1—RESIDENCE REQUIREMENTS and 4.2—ENTRANCE REQUIREMENTS (School Board Policy Manual) and the parent or guardians shall sign a form acknowledging receipt and understanding of the school's student handbook and to be bound by the applicable portions thereof.

If the student's desired interscholastic activity is associated with a specific class or course that meets during the school-day that the traditional students of the district are required to take, the home-schooled student shall take the required class or course to be eligible for the interscholastic activity.

If the student's desired interscholastic activity is **not** associated with a specific class or course that meets during the school-day, to be eligible to participate in the student's desired interscholastic activity, the home-schooled student shall enroll in a class or course that is age and grade appropriate for the student.

Students who participate in extracurricular or athletic activities under this policy will be transported to and from interscholastic activities on the same basis as other students are transported.

A student who withdraws from an Arkansas Activities Association member school to be home-schooled shall not participate in an interscholastic activity in the resident school district for a minimum of three hundred sixty-five days after the student withdraws from the member school.

# ELEMENTARY SCHOOL SECTION

#### **Attendance**

Education is more than the grades students receive in their courses. Important as that is, students' regular attendance at school is essential to their social and cultural development and helps prepare them to accept responsibilities they will face as an adult. Interactions with other students and participation in the instruction within the classroom enrich the learning environment and promote a continuity of instruction which results in higher student achievement.

#### **Honor Roll**

Elementary Honor Roll will be determined at the end of each nine week marking period. To be on the "All A Honor Roll," a student must have all A's during the nine week period. To be on the "A/B Honor Roll," a student must have all A's and B's during the nine week period.

#### **Promotion/Retention/Course**

A disservice is done to students through social promotion and is prohibited by state law. The district shall, at a minimum, evaluate each student annually in an effort to help each student who is not performing at grade level. Each school in the Ozark Mountain School District shall include in the student handbook, the criteria for promotion of students to the next grade. Parents or guardians shall be kept informed concerning the progress of their student(s). Notice of a student's possible retention shall be included with the student's grades sent home to each parent/guardian. Parent-teacher conferences are encouraged and may be held as necessary in an effort to improve a student's academic success.

Promotion of students shall be based on the following criteria: (a) a passing score of a "D" or better in core areas of math and literacy for the first and second semesters, (b) attendance, and (c) grade level readiness.

Failure to meet the criteria may result in retention.

If there is doubt concerning the promotion or retention of a student, before a final decision is made, a conference between the parents/guardians, teacher(s), other pertinent personnel, and principal shall be held. The conference shall be held at a time and place that best accommodates those participating in the conference. The school shall document participation or non-participation in required conferences. If the conference attendees fail to agree concerning the student's placement, the final decision to promote or retain shall rest with the principal. A student who does not make the state cut-off score on the State Mandated Exam shall require an Improvement Plan. Each plan shall be developed by school personnel and the student's parent(s) and shall be designed to assist the student in attaining the expected achievement level. A student failing to participate in their improvement plan will result in retention.

Promotion/retention or graduation of students with an Individual Educational Plan (IEP) shall be based on their successful attainment of the goals set forth in their (IEP).

The District shall use Standards-based grading in the District's elementary schools.

#### **ELEMENTARY FIELD TRIPS**

Taking a school field trip is a very beneficial instructional strategy of teaching, but school trips take students out of their classroom during instructional time, so it is important that students who participate in school trips have passing grades. Students who participate in school trips are also representatives of their school, so consideration of self-discipline plays a part in consideration of school trip participation.

Field trips are permitted when justified and approved by the principal. No student will be allowed to leave school on any trip without parental consent. The classroom teacher is responsible for distributing and collecting field trip permission forms.

#### EXTRACURRICULAR ACTIVITIES – ELEMENTARY

A student may lose his/her eligibility to participate in extracurricular activities when, in the opinion of the school's administration, the student's participation in such an activity may adversely jeopardize his/her academic achievement. Students may also be denied permission to participate in extracurricular activities as a consequence of disciplinary action taken by the administration for inappropriate behavior.

## HIGH SCHOOL SECTION

#### COURSE REQUIREMENTS

All students, including seniors, must be enrolled and attend school for a full day. College, Career Internship or Technical Center courses taken for concurrent high school credit will also fulfill course requirements. Any exceptions to this will be on a case by case basis reviewed by the superintendent.

#### SCHEDULE CHANGES

No schedule changes will be made after the designated one-week period except those initiated by a teacher's recommendation to the principal and counselor.

Counselors will determine a legitimate need for a schedule change. In some cases, the student may also be required to obtain parental approval. Finally, the changed schedule is returned to the counselor. Only then does the student begin going by the new schedule. Failure of the student to obtain permission at any point in procedure renders the change unauthorized and the original schedule stays in force.

#### **CLASS STANDING**

- A. A student with fewer than 6 credits will be considered a freshman
- B. A student with 6 credits but fewer than 12 credits which includes one full credit of ninth grade English will be a sophomore.
- C. A student with 12 credits but fewer than 16 credits which includes one full credit of ninth and tenth grade English will be a junior.
- D. A student with 16 credits or more will be a senior.

#### GRADES AND CRITERIA FOR CLASS RANK

The following grading scale will be used in grades 7-12: A=90-100; B=80-89; C=70-79; D=60-69; F=00-59

#### **HONOR ROLL**

Honor Roll," a student must have all A's during the nine week period. To be on the "All A Honor Roll," a student must have all A's during the nine week period. To be on the "A/B Honor Roll," a student must have all A's and B's during the nine week period.

Criteria for rank-in-class and grade point calculation at Ozark Mountain high schools are as follows:.

Rank-in-class and grade point average are based on semester grades only.

Rank-in-class is placed on students' records and transcripts as a fraction with the numerator being the student's rank from the top of the class and the denominator being the number of students in the class. Grade point average is also posted on transcripts to the nearest thousandth. Rank-in-class uses the following scale for determining grade point average in regular courses:

A=4 points B=3 points C =2 points D=1 points F=0 points

Rank-in-class uses the following scale for determining grade point averages in AP/IB courses, providing the student takes the AP/IB Exam at the end of the course:

A=5 points B=4 points C=3 points D=2 points F=0 points

AP Exam Policy – Students taking AP Courses must take the AP Exam at the end of the course in order to receive weighted credit.

#### **GRADUATION REQUIREMENTS**

It shall be the policy of the Board of Education that:

A. Twenty-three (23) credits are required to graduate. Only one of these may be in Physical Education.

B. ½ unit of technology

C. A unit of credit shall be defined as the credit given for a course that meets for a minimum of 120 clock hours.

D. All students will participate in the Smart Core curriculum unless the parent or guardian waives a student's right to participate. To waive this right, parents or guardians must sign informed consent documents provided by the Arkansas Department of Education, which will then be attached to the student's permanent transcript and follow the student if he/she transfers to another district. In the case of a waiver, the student will be required to participate in the Core. Students/Parents desiring to change their choice of curriculum will be allowed to do so provided the required course of study can be completed by the end of the senior year. Students and parents in grades 6-12 will be informed of the Smart Core curriculum and graduation requirements in various ways, including the student handbook, newsletters, class sessions, parent-teacher conferences, P.T.A, mail-outs, and the school website.

All graduation requirements should be met at least 48 hours prior to the day of graduation to participate in the graduation ceremony.

Foreign exchange students may only receive a certificate of completion.

#### **HONOR GRADUATES**

Ozark Mountain high school honor graduates will be those students who have earned an overall G.P.A. of 3.25 or above and have fulfilled the Smart Core graduation requirements. Honor graduates will be entitled to wear an honor stole or cord during graduation ceremonies and be recognized in the program.

The honor student who has earned the highest GPA after completing all graduation requirements, who has been enrolled continuously in a public school in grades 9 through 12 OR has transferred at least 15 academic credits from an accredited public, private, or parochial school, AND has been in an Ozark Mountain high school for any portion of four consecutive semesters shall be the valedictorian of his/her graduating class. The salutatorian shall be the honor graduate who meets the same criteria but has the second highest GPA

In case of an exact tie in class rank for either valedictorian or salutatorian, all honor students with the tied rank will be awarded the honor.

For purposes of determining honor positions, rank in class and grade point average are calculated at the midterm of the senior year for all credit courses.

#### SMART CORE CURRICULUM

English -4 units

- English 9th grade
- English 10th grade
- English 11th grade
- English 12th grade

Mathematics – 4 units; One unit must be taken at 11th or 12th grade (or 3 units of math and 1 unit of Computer Science\*)

- Algebra I or First Part and Second Part Algebra I (Grades 7-8 or 8-9)
- Geometry or First Part and Second Part Geometry (Grades 8-9 or 9-10)
- Algebra II
- Fourth Math--Choice of: Advanced Topics and Modeling in Mathematics, Algebra III,

Calculus, Linear Systems and Statistics, Mathematical Applications and Algorithms,

Pre-Calculus, or an Advanced Placement mathematics; or Computer Science\*

Natural Science – 3 units with lab experience (or 2 units with lab experience and 1 unit of Computer Science\*)

• Biology (1 unit)

Two units from the following options:

- Physical Science
- Chemistry
- Physics or Principles of Technology I & II or PIC Physics

Approved Computer Science\*- 2 units; a maximum of 1 computer science credit may count for this requirement

Social Studies – 3 units (see note beside economics)

- Civics ½ unit
- World History 1 unit
- American History 1 unit

Oral Communication – ½ unit

Physical Education − ½ unit

Health and Safety − ½ unit

Economics – ½ unit (may be counted toward Social Studies or Career Focus)

Fine Arts − ½ unit

Career Focus – 6 units

Each high school student shall be required to take at least one digital learning course for credit to graduate.

(Comparable concurrent credit may be substituted where applicable)

\*Computer Science- A flex unit of an approved Computer Science may replace the 4<sup>th</sup> math requirement or the 3<sup>rd</sup> science requirement. Two distinct units of the approved computer science courses may replace the 4<sup>th</sup> math requirement and the 3<sup>rd</sup> science requirement. If the 4<sup>th</sup> math

requirement and the 3<sup>rd</sup> science requirement have been met through other coursework, any of the computer science courses may be used for career focus credit. Beginning with the class of 2026, and all classes after, Computer Science is a graduation requirement for all students.

#### **CORE CURRICULUM**

English -4 units

- English 9th grade
- English 10th grade
- English 11th grade
- English 12th grade

Mathematics – 4 units (or 3 units of math and 1 unit of Computer Science\*)

- Algebra I or its equivalent
- Geometry or its equivalent
- All math units must build on the base of algebra and geometry knowledge and skills.
- Or approved Computer Science

\*\* A two-year algebra equivalent or a two-year geometry equivalent may each be counted as two units of the 4-unit requirement.

Science – 3 units (or 2 units with lab experience and 1 unit of Computer Science\*)

- At least one unit of Biology
- At least one unit of a physical science
- Or approved Computer Science

Social Studies – 3 units (see note beside economics)

- Civics  $-\frac{1}{2}$  unit
- World History 1 unit
- American History 1 unit

Oral Communication − ½ unit

Physical Education − ½ unit

Health and Safety  $-\frac{1}{2}$  unit

Economics – ½ unit (may be counted toward Social Studies or Career Focus)

Fine Arts − ½ unit

Career Focus – 6 units

Each high school student shall be required to take at least one digital learning course for credit to graduate.

(Comparable concurrent credit may be substituted where applicable)

\*Computer Science (optional)- A flex unit of an approved Computer Science may replace the 4<sup>th</sup> math requirement or the 3<sup>rd</sup> science requirement. Two distinct units of the approved computer science courses may replace the 4<sup>th</sup> math requirement and the 3<sup>rd</sup> science requirement. If the 4<sup>th</sup> math requirement and the 3<sup>rd</sup> science requirement have been met through other coursework, any of the computer science courses may be used for career focus credit.

#### **EARLY GRADUATION REQUIREMENTS**

In accordance with Act 275 of 1997, any student enrolled in Ozark Mountain High Schools who has earned the number of credits required by the school district for graduation shall be eligible to graduate, regardless of their current grade level at the time such credits are earned.

### **Early Graduation Requirements:**

- Students must meet all district-required credits for graduation.
- Students must schedule and attend a meeting with their parent/guardian and the Early Graduation Committee. The committee will review academic standing, graduation requirements, and post-graduation plans before determining early graduation status.
- Final approval for early graduation rests with the Early Graduation Committee and school administration.

#### **Senior Privileges Waiver:**

Students who elect to graduate early must understand and agree that early graduation results in forfeiture of senior privileges, including but not limited to:

- Senior Trip
- Homecoming Court participation as a senior
- Prom King or Queen eligibility
- Senior Class Valedictorian or Salutatorian honors
- Other senior-exclusive activities or recognitions

#### **Junior Privileges Maintained:**

Early graduates who were classified as juniors at the time of applying for early graduation may still participate in junior class privileges, including but not limited to:

- Junior/Senior Prom attendance (non-candidate for King or Queen)
- Junior/Senior College Tours
- Junior/Senior Field Trips
- Other junior class activities

#### **Early Graduation Agreement:**

Before early graduation is approved, the student and parent/guardian must sign the Early Graduation Agreement stating:

- They have reviewed the early graduation policy with a school administrator.
- They fully understand the privileges that will be forfeited.
- They accept the terms of early graduation as outlined.

The signed Early Graduation Agreement will be kept on file in the student's permanent record.

#### **TEST EXEMPTION POLICY – Semester Test**

Students in grades 7-12 may be exempt from final tests each semester if they meet the following conditions:

Students must maintain a "B" semester average with no more than three absences in the semester (per class).

Students must have had no more than 3 absences (excused or unexcused combined) for the entire semester.

Students must have had no more than one disciplinary referral to the principal during the semester.

Even if qualified for exemption, students are strongly encouraged to take semester tests in order to improve their grades and to obtain experience in studying for midterm and final college exams. If an exempt student does elect to take a semester test, his test score will only be counted if it results in an increase in the overall course grade.

Students with two or more tests must attend those classes in between the test periods. Students may leave after their last test is completed, providing they have a parent's permission and the permission of the school. Students must take their tests during the scheduled times. Students who need to test early due to family emergencies or extenuating circumstances must let the administration know five days in advance, so arrangements can be made with teachers to prepare tests.

Some classes may require special projects that will not allow for exemptions. All students will be required to participate in these.

Students who are exempt from all semester tests will not be required to attend school on the day designated by the administration as a review day.

NOTE: State guidelines may supersede this policy.

#### PROMOTION/ RETENTION POLICY – SECONDARY

The junior high core curriculum courses will be defined as follows: English, mathematics, social studies, and science. In order to be promoted into the next grade, a seventh or eighth grader must do the following: have a passing grade in at least three of the four core curriculum classes. The passing grade will be determined by using an average of the two semester grades. If a student does not meet the criteria established for promotion, he/she may obtain credit from an approved summer school for any or all subjects at the rate of one semester's credit for each subject taken in summer school or correspondence program. The parent must check with the administration to determine if the summer school or correspondence program is accredited. If the student receives summer credit that brings his pass rate up to the requirements of the OMSD, he or she will be promoted. If the necessary summer credits are not obtained, the student will be retained. The grade received for summer school will be a CR (credit received), will only result in course completion, and the grade will not replace the failing grade. Each school in the Ozark Mountain School District shall notify, in writing, parents/guardians, and students of the criteria for promotion of students to the next grade. Parents or guardians shall be kept informed of their students' progress in a timely manner. Parent-teacher conferences are encouraged and may be held as necessary in an effort to improve a student's academic success. A disservice is done to students through social promotion. Promotion or retention of students shall be primarily based on their ability to succeed in the next grade. If there is doubt concerning the promotion or retention of a student, before a final decision is made, a conference between the parents/guardians, teacher(s), other pertinent personnel, and principal shall be held. conference shall be held at a time and place that best accommodates those participating in the conference. The school shall document participation or non-participation in required conferences. If the conference attendees fail to agree concerning the student's placement, the final decision to promote or retain shall rest with the principal.

Promotion/retention or graduation of students with an Individual Educational Plan (IEP) shall be based on their successful attainment of the goals set forth in their IEP.

Students who do not score proficient or above on their grade level State Mandated Exams shall be required to participate in an Improvement Plan. Each Improvement Plan shall be developed by school personnel and the student's parents and shall be designed to assist the student in attaining the expected achievement level.

To the extent required by the State Board of Education, students in grade eleven (11) and below who do not meet the required score on a college and career readiness measurement shall participate in the remediation activities prescribed in his/her Improvement Plan which may include additional opportunities to retake the measurement.

The failure of a student to participate in his/her improvement plan may result in retention. Promotion/retention or graduation of students with an Individual Educational Plan (IEP) shall be based on their successful attainment of the goals set forth in their IEP.

#### CONCURRENT/CORRESPONDENCE/WEB CT COURSE POLICY

Correspondence work will be accepted at Ozark Mountain high schools under the following conditions:

Concurrent Credit: A ninth through twelfth grade student who successfully completes a college course(s) from an institution approved by the Arkansas Department of Education shall be given credit toward high school grades and graduation at the rate of one high school credit for each three (3) semester hours of college credit and receive weighted local credit if the student scores an A, B, or C. Unless approved by the school's principal, **prior to enrolling for the course**, the concurrent credit shall be applied toward the student's graduation requirements as an elective. A student who takes a three-semester hour remedial/developmental education course, as permitted by the ADE Rules Governing Concurrent College and High School Credit, shall be the equivalent of one-half unit of credit for a high school career focus elective. The remedial/developmental education course cannot be used to meet the core subject area/unit requirements in English and mathematics.

A student or a student's parent, legal guardian, person having lawful control of the student, or person standing in loco parentis to the student shall not be responsible for tuition, fees, or materials for participation in a concurrent credit course.

Correspondence/Web CT work may only be taken as makeup work, and then only when all other options have been exhausted. The student must make every effort to take courses in residence before correspondence work may be considered. Correspondence/Web CT courses may be taken to make up previously failed courses, but not in lieu of those courses. Exceptions to this rule include courses which the student wishes to take for enrichment that are not offered at school and courses which the student needs but cannot take at school due to a scheduling conflict.

Students who wish to enroll in a correspondence/Web CT study course and apply that course work toward graduation must receive prior approval from the counselor and principal.

#### **Alternative Learning Environment (ALE)**

The purpose of the Alternative Learning Center is to provide the academically and/or behaviorally challenged student an alternative way to attain his high school diploma or G.E.D. Each student shall have an Individualized Education Plan to allow him/her the best chance at academic success

using his/her individual learning styles. ALE students are required to follow OMSD Alternative School academic and disciplinary guidelines. These guidelines, rules and procedures will be explained to both parent and student in the ALE Placement Meeting. Participation in extracurricular activities will be determined at the discretion of the ALE director in collaboration with the individual school principal.

<u>Referrals</u> - Teachers, students, parents, counselor, or principal may request admission to the ALC on behalf of the student by either written or verbal request. The reasons for this request must be stated. The number of ALE positions are limited so the request does not guarantee placement. <u>Placement Committee</u> - The ALE Coordinator, High School Principal, teacher, and Counselor shall make up the Placement Committee.

Reasons for Possible Placement: Students must exhibit at least two of the following.

- 1. The student is at risk of dropping out of school.
- 2. The student is at risk of failing course (s).
- 3. The student is significantly deficient in credits toward graduation.
- 4. The student's conduct inhibits participation in the regular classroom.
- 5. The student has accrued excessive absences.
- 6. Other reasons as stated in the referral.

<u>Parent Notification</u> - Parents will be notified by letter or phone of Placement Committee conferences and recommendations.

Classroom Reentry Process - Students will be reviewed throughout each grading period. Reentry to the regular classroom will take place upon recommendation of the ALE Coordinator for review by the Placement Committee and classroom teachers. Final recommendation will be made by the Placement Committee.

#### SCHOOL ORGANIZATIONS

Non-curriculum-related secondary school student organizations wishing to conduct meetings on school premises during non-instructional time shall not be denied equal access on the basis of the religious, political, philosophical, or other content of the speech at such meetings. Such meetings must meet the following criteria.

- 1. The meeting is to be voluntary and student initiated;
- 2. There is no sponsorship of the meeting by the school, the government, or its agents or employees;
- 3. The meeting must occur during non-instructional time;
- 4. Employees or agents of the school are present at religious meetings only in a non-participatory capacity;
- 5. The meeting does not materially and substantially interfere with the orderly conduct of educational activities within the school; and
- 6. Non-school persons may not direct, conduct, control, or regularly attend activities of student groups.

All meetings held on school premises must be scheduled and approved by the principal. The school, its agents, and employees retain the authority to maintain order and discipline, to protect the well-being of students and faculty, and to assure that attendance of students at meetings is voluntary.

Fraternities, sororities, and secret societies are forbidden in the District's schools. Membership to student organizations shall not be by a vote of the organization's members, nor be restricted by the student's race, religion, sex, national origin, or other arbitrary criteria. Hazing, as defined by law, is forbidden in connection with initiation into, or affiliation with, any student organization, extracurricular activity or sport program. Students who are convicted of participation in hazing or the failure to report hazing shall be expelled

#### **Extracurricular Activities**

**Extracurricular activities** are defined as: any school sponsored program where students from one or more schools meet, work, perform, practice under supervision outside of regular class time, or are competing for the purpose of receiving an award, rating, recognition, or criticism, or qualification for additional competition.

It shall be the policy of the Board of Education that the district will adhere to the requirements established by the Arkansas Activities Association in regard to:

- 1. extracurricular and non-instructional activities and their place in the school program;
- 2. limit and control interruptions of instructional time in the classroom and the number of absences for such activities;
- 3. requirements that students must meet to be eligible to participate in extracurricular activities. Beginning with second semester 7<sup>th</sup> grade; Students must maintain a 2.0 GPA per semester each year.
- 4. In addition, students with an IEP must adhere to the eligibility requirements as detailed in the AAA handbook.

Note: It shall NOT be the policy of the Ozark Mountain School District to establish an SIP program in order to establish extracurricular eligibility.

#### ARKANSAS ACTIVITIES ASSOCIATION

In addition to the foregoing rules, the district shall abide by the rules and regulations of the Arkansas Activities Association (AAA) governing interscholastic activities. AAA provides catastrophic insurance coverage for students participating in extracurricular activities who are enrolled in school. As a matter of District policy, no student may participate in an extracurricular activity unless he or she is enrolled in a district school, to ensure all students are eligible for AAA catastrophic insurance.

\*NOTE: For liability insurance questions please contact the school office.

#### **Motor Vehicle Registrations and Requirements**

#### 1. Purpose

This policy is intended to ensure student and campus safety by regulating student vehicle use through assigned parking, key check-in procedures, and enforcement of responsible driving habits. This policy incorporates and expands the district's previous parking regulations to reflect current school safety practices.

#### 2. Parking Regulations

## A. Speed and Safety

For the safety of school patrons, a 5 M.P.H. speed limit is enforced on all Ozark Mountain campuses at all times. Drivers must observe safe and courteous habits. Reckless or hazardous driving will result in temporary or permanent loss of parking privileges and other disciplinary consequences.

#### B. Vehicle Registration

All vehicles must be registered in the principal's office before being brought on campus. Registration must include:

- Student name and address
- Vehicle description and license plate number
- Proof of valid driver's license
- Proof of insurance & registration
- Parent or guardian permission

Students who drive multiple vehicles must register each vehicle. Misuse of a vehicle will result in loss of driving privileges.

#### C. Attendance and Tardiness

Student drivers MUST arrive on time. Student drivers are not allowed to return to their vehicles during the school day without permission from the office. Excessive tardiness will result in:

- Suspension of parking privileges for the remainder of the year
- Additional disciplinary action for unexcused tardies

#### D. Search and Accountability

Students have no expectation of privacy in their vehicles on campus. Vehicles may be searched if there is reasonable suspicion. Drivers will be held accountable for any illegal or prohibited items found in their vehicle, in accordance with district policy.

#### E. Driver's Exam Documentation

Please allow two (2) working days' notice for school personnel to prepare verification paperwork required for the driver's license exam.

#### 3. New Requirements for the 2025–2026 School Year

To strengthen campus safety and align with new district-wide expectations, the following procedures will now apply to all student drivers:

Assigned Parking Passes and Spaces

- Students will be issued a numbered parking pass or decal and assigned a designated parking spot for the year.
- The parking pass must be clearly displayed in back window.
- Students are not allowed to park in unassigned spots, staff, handicap, or visitor areas without proper authorization.
- Parking passes are non-transferable and valid only for the registered student.

#### 4. Consequences for Violations

Violations of this policy may result in:

- 1st Offense: Detention or temporary loss of privileges
- 2nd Offense: Revocation of driving privileges for the semester or school year

Severe infractions (e.g., unsafe driving, skipping school, possession of contraband) will result in immediate disciplinary action, up to expulsion and notification of law enforcement when applicable.

#### 5. Liability and Responsibility

The school is not responsible for damage to or theft from vehicles parked on campus. Students are expected to lock their vehicles and avoid leaving valuables inside.

#### **Closing Remarks**

This handbook is not intended to be all-inclusive. It does not and cannot contain all of the rules, regulations, and procedures that are needed for the efficient and effective function of the Ozark Mountain School District. New information will be disseminated, and new rules will be made, as new situations occur, or mandates are issued by the State Department of Education.

It is our wish that each student at this school conduct himself/herself in a way that will be acceptable to all concerned.

We are all here for one purpose and that is to see that each of you receive an education that will allow you to develop to your fullest potential and to ensure your mental and physical growth, which in turn will insure your future happiness.

# **Appendix A- Title I**

## Title I Parents' Right to Know Letter

Dear Parent or Guardian:

Our schools, **Bruno-Pyatt Elementary**, **St. Joe Elementary**, **Western Grove Elementary** and **Ozark Mountain High School** receive federal funds for Title I, Part A programs. Throughout the school year, we will be providing you with important information about this law as it relates to your child's education. This letter lets you know about your right to request information regarding the professional qualifications of the classroom staff working with your child. Our district or schools will be able to provide you with the following information regarding the qualifications of your child's teacher(s):

- 1. Whether the teacher meets the state qualifications and licensing criteria for the grades and subjects he or she teaches.
- 2. Whether the teacher is teaching under emergency or provisional status because of special circumstances.
- 3. Whether the teacher has any advanced degrees and the field of discipline of the teacher's certification or degree.

If at any time your student has been taught for four (4) or more consecutive weeks by a teacher(s) that is not highly qualified, then you will be notified by the school.

You also have the right to request information regarding the qualifications of the paraprofessional(s) assisting your child's teacher(s). If your child is receiving Title I, Part A services from a paraprofessional, then our district or school is able to provide you with the following information:

- 1. Whether the paraprofessional has completed at least two years of study at an institution of higher education.
- 2. Whether the paraprofessional has completed an associate's degree (or higher).
- 3. Whether the paraprofessional has met a rigorous standard of quality through our state's certification procedure for determining the quality of paraprofessional staff.
- 4. Whether the paraprofessional has: (a) the knowledge of and ability to assist in instructing reading, writing, and mathematics or (b) the knowledge of and the ability to assist in learning activities, such as homework, reading readiness, writing, mathematics, and other support as appropriate.

To request this information please contact your child's school by phone or by email at:

**Bruno-Pyatt**: Mrs. Jeri Redding, Phone: (870) 427-5227 or email: jredding@omsd.k12.ar.us

St. Joe: Mrs. Jeri Redding, Phone (870) 439-2218 or email: jredding@omsd.k12.ar.us

Western Grove and OMHS: Edwin Butterworth, Phone (870) 429-5215 or email: ebutterworth@omsd.k12.ar.us

Should you have any other questions regarding your child's education, please do not hesitate to contact us using the information above or at the District at (870) 439-2218

#### **OMSD Title I Parent/Teacher Compact**

The Ozark Mountain School District's Title I program is established to improve student achievement and comply with state and national educational goals. To assure that these goals are met, a partnership between parents and teachers is essential; therefore, the OMSD Title I programs establishes this compact.

#### Parents of OMSD Title I students will:

- Ensure that your child attend school on a regular basis
- Be involved in the student's learning process (i.e. ensure completed assignments, encourage reading and learning at home)
- Communicate on a regular basis with school personnel (i.e. attend parent/teacher conferences, scheduled meetings, written communication, telephone calls)

Ensure that your child attends school on a regular basis- promoting perfect attendance.

- Ensure that my child gets 8-9 hours of sleep every night.
- Talk with my child and offer praise, respect and encouragement.
- Monitor out of school activities and TV/Xbox/cell phone time.
- Read with my child, listen to my child read, and promote positive use of my child's extracurricular time.
- Support the school by providing notification of changes regarding my phone number or address changes.
- Encourage my child to resolve conflicts in positive, non-violent ways.
- Support the school's discipline policy.

#### Title I teachers and employees will:

- Conduct with parents an annual review of the Title I program
- Provide high quality instruction compliant with state and national performance standards from trained staff members in an effective learning environment
- Send frequent reports of student's progress to parents (i.e. report cards, test results, progress reports)
- Provide opportunities for parents to volunteer and participate in classroom activities

- Demonstrate care, concern and respect for all students and their family with a positive attitude.
- Promote professional learning regarding the value and benefit of parent/family contributions, and support parents/families as equal partners in their child's education
- Help children resolve conflicts in positive, non-violent ways.

**As a Student of OMSD,** I will share the responsibility to improve my academic achievement and attain the State's and school's high standards of learning by doing the following:

- Come to school with a positive attitude, ready to learn, every day.
- Engage in learning activities and ask questions when I need help.
- Read regularly, or ask my family to read with me at home.
- Set goals for high academic standards and work diligently to complete my school assignments.
- Take school-work notes, and other information home and return any necessary information.
- Treat all students, teachers, adults and property in the school with respect at all times.
- Work to resolve conflicts in positive, non-violent ways.

#### As a Principal, I will:

- Provide opportunities for effective parent/family engagement and to support a partnership between the school, parent/families and community to improve students' academic achievement.
- Work with staff members in providing resources to help parents work with their children to improve academic achievement and foster greater parent/family understanding of the curriculum.
- Promote professional learning regarding the value and benefit of parent/family contributions, and support teacher, parent/family, student and community.
- Provide a safe and orderly learning environment that promotes academic success.
- Help children resolve conflicts in positive, non-violent ways.

Parents, please sign this document to indicate that you are in agreement with the conditions of this compact.

Parent signature	Date	_
Student Signature	_Date	_Grade
Teacher Signature	Date	_
Principal Signature	Date	

# **Appendix B- Student Technology Use Agreement**

#### STUDENT ELECTRONIC DEVICE AND INTERNET USE AGREEMENT

It is all staff members' responsibility to educate students about appropriate online behavior, including interactions with other individuals on social networking sites/chat rooms, and cyber bullying awareness and response.

The Ozark Mountain School District agrees to allow the student identified above ("Student") to use the district's technology to access the Internet under the following terms and conditions which apply whether the access is through a District or student owned electronic device (as used in this Agreement, "electronic device" means anything that can be used to transmit or capture images, sound, or data):

- 1. <u>Conditional Privilege</u>: The Student's use of the district's access to the Internet is a privilege conditioned on the Student's abiding to this agreement. No student may use the district's access to the Internet unless the student and his/her parent or guardian have read and signed this agreement.
- 2. <u>Acceptable Use:</u> The Student agrees that he/she will use the Districts Internet access for educational purposes only. In using the Internet, the student agrees to obey all federal and state laws and regulations. The student also agrees to abide by any Internet use rules instituted at the student's school or class, whether those rules are written or oral.
- 3. <u>Penalties for Improper Use:</u> If the student violates this agreement and misuses the Internet, the student shall be subject to disciplinary action.
- 4. "Misuse of the Districts access to the Internet" includes but is not limited to the following:
- a. Using the internet for other than educational purposes;
- b. Gaining intentional access or maintaining access to materials which are "harmful to minors" as defined by Arkansas law.
- c. Using the internet for any illegal activity, including computer hacking and copyright or intellectual property law violations;
- d. Making unauthorized copies of computer software;
- e. Accessing "chat lines" unless authorized by the instructor for a class activity directly supervised by a staff member.
- f. Using abusive or profane language in private messages on the system; or using the system to harass, insult, or verbally attack others.
- g. Posting anonymous messages on the system;
- h. Using encryption software;
- i. Wasteful use of limited resources provided by the school including paper;
- j. Causing congestion of the network through lengthy downloads of files;
- k. Vandalizing data of another user;
- 1. Obtaining or sending information which could be used to make destructive devices such as guns, weapons, bombs, explosives, or fireworks;
- m. Gaining or attempting to gain unauthorized access to resources or files;
- n. Identifying oneself with another person's name or password or using an account or password of another user without proper authorization;
- o. Invading the privacy of individuals;

- p. Divulging personally identifying information about himself/herself or anyone else either on the internet or in an email unless it is a necessary and integral part of the student's academic endeavor. Personally identifying information includes full names, address, and phone number.
- q. Using the network for financial or commercial gain without district permission;
- r. Theft or vandalism of data, equipment, or intellectual property;
- s. Attempting to gain access or gaining access to student records, grades, or files;
- t. Introducing a virus to, or otherwise improperly tampering with the system;
- u. Degrading or disrupting equipment or system performance;
- v. Creating a web page or associating a web page with the school or school district without proper authorization;
- w. Providing access to the District's Internet Access to unauthorized individuals;
- x. Failing to obey school or classroom Internet use rules; or
- y. Taking part in any activity related to Internet use which creates a clear and present danger of the substantial disruption of the orderly operation of the district or any of its schools/
- z. Installing or downloading software on district computers without prior approval of technology director or his/her designee.
- 5. <u>Liability for debts:</u> Students and their cosigner shall be liable for any and all costs (debts) incurred through the student's use of all electronic devices or the Internet including penalties for copyright violations.
- 6. No Expectation of Privacy: The student and parent/guardian by signing the handbook agreement form agree that if the student uses the internet through the District's access, that the student waives any right to privacy the student may have for such use. The student and the parent/guardian agree that the district may monitor the student's use of the district's internet access and may also examine all system activities the student participates in, including but not limited to email, voice, and video transmissions, to ensure proper use of the system. The District may share such transmissions with the student's parents/ guardians.
- 7. <u>No Guarantees:</u> The District will make good faith efforts to protect children from improper or harmful matters which may be on the Internet. At the same time, in signing this agreement, the parent and student recognize that the district makes no guarantees about preventing improper access to such materials on the part of the student.
- 8. <u>Signatures:</u> We, the persons who have signed the OMSD compact have read this agreement and agree to be bound by the terms and conditions of this agreement.

Parent Signature:	
Student Signature:	Grade:
Administrative Signature:	

# **Appendix C- McKinney-Vento Act**

#### MCKINNEY-VENTO ACT

The Ozark Mountain School District recognizes that from time to time students who have been identified as homeless may be enrolled on its campuses.

It shall be the policy of the District that the homeless students will be afforded the same free and appropriate public education as all other students.

Homeless students will be afforded comparable services, as are other students in areas such as transportation, Title I, LEP, vocational education, alternative education, gifted & talented, special education, and food service.

Homeless students will be identified at the time of their initial enrollments with the District.

Disputes arising regarding the educational placement of homeless students will be resolved at the building level utilizing input from one or more of the following individuals: the student, the parent/guardian, classroom teacher(s), the counselor, the principal, the alternative education director, the special education supervisor, the gifted & talented coordinator, the school nurse, and/or personnel from other governmental agencies. Building decisions relative to the educational placement of homeless students may be appealed to the principal, then to the Superintendent of schools, and then to the Board of Directors.

The respective building principal shall be responsible for the coordination of educational services to homeless students enrolled in this school district.

The McKinney-Vento Act form located following this page in the student handbook will be completed and returned to the office.

vicininey vento rice			
School			
Student's Name	Grade	Teacher	
Dear Parent or Guardian, This questionnaire is <b>mandated</b> in order to address the McKinney-Vento Act. Your answers will help the school determine residency documents necessary for enrollment.			
You must check one answer in either A or B			
Presently, the student is living:			
Section A	Section	on B	

McKinney-Vento Act

in a shelter (refuge)in a motel, car or campsitewith friends, or family members, other than parent or guardianmy family lives with another family, and the house or apartment belongs to	all choices in section A do not apply to my child.
them, or they signed the lease.	
If you checked section A, complete the	rest of this form
The student lives with:1 parent2 parents1 parent & another adulta relative, friend or other adultalone with no adult	
Name of student	Male Female
Birth Date Age Se	ocial Security #
Name of Parent or Legal Guardian	
Address	Phone
Signature of Parent or Guardian	Date

# **Appendix D- Chemical Screening Program**

# Ozark Mountain School District (OMSD) Grades 7-12 Student Chemical Screen-Testing Program

Approved by OMSD Board July 20, 2015

#### INTRODUCTION

The OMSD School Board recognizes that the misuse of drugs/ alcohol/ tobacco is a serious problem with legal, physical, and social implications for the entire community. As the educational institution of these communities, the school should strive to prevent substance abuse and help substance abuse users with education, rather than punitive means. OMSD prohibits the use, possession, concealment, handling, or distribution of any drug paraphernalia at any time on school property or any school related event. It further establishes a drug-free zone within 1000 feet of any school property used for educational purposes. This program does not affect current policies, practices or rights of OMSD regarding drug/ alcohol/ tobacco use, where there is reasonable suspicion by means other than chemical screening through this policy.

#### **PURPOSE**

- 1. Intended as an integral component of the overall physical and mental educational program of OMSD.
- 2. To undermine the effects of peer pressure by providing a legitimate reason for students to refuse to use drugs detrimental to their health.
- 3. To prevent students from participating in activities and driving to or parking on school property while he/she has drug residues in his/her body.

#### **CONSENT**

Each student must have a signed student /parental/ guardian drug test consent form (Form A) as a requirement for participation in any extra-curricular activity. For the purposes of this program, extra-curricular activities can be defined as any activity not taking place in a traditional classroom setting. Random testing may occur at any time. Failure to provide the signed consent form will result in the student being prohibited from participating in any school related activities. Consent forms for students participating in such activities must be returned within two weeks from the time the forms were distributed.

#### **DUE PROCESS**

While eligible students in grades 7-12 are in school, they will be subject to random chemical screen(s) selection for testing. The students selected come from each individual high school campus. The random selection will be drawn by the participating testing lab. A request on appeal for another test of a "positive" urine specimen is the financial responsibility of the student or his/her parent/guardian.

#### **SCOPE OF PROGRAM**

The testing policy of OMSD will include the following: RANDOM TESTING

- 1. Random TESTING will be used for students who:
- a. Are involved in athletics and/or any school sponsored extracurricular activity (see list below) which meets the guidelines of the Arkansas Activities Association:

Art Club	Band	Baseball	Tennis	Basketball	Beta Club
Choir	Christian	Drama	FBLA	FCCLA	Cheerleading
	Club	Club			
FFA	Golf	Key Club	Lego	Music Club	Newspaper
		-	League		
Quiz Bowl	E Sports	Student	Track	Softball	Yearbook
	_	Council			

- b. Drive to school.
- c. Participate in any/all school activities including but not limited to: \*Commencement Ceremonies, Prom, Homecoming, Senior Trip, including any class fundraisers i.e... concession stand, car washes, garage sales, school dances or class activities.

\*Please note the above activities, clubs, events, and privileges are not all inclusive and others may be added.

#### **TESTING PROCEDURE**

All test results from the laboratory will be communicated to the Superintendent or his designee. All urine specimens will be taken at a designated restroom. Any student who is requested to provide a urine specimen will be directed to the collection site where the student will complete the necessary forms. Students selected as part of the random test will be required to sign an additional consent form. If a student fails to provide the necessary amount of urine for a valid specimen after two hours, the student will be considered to have tested positive. The student will either fall under the conditions of positive testing, or the student may pay for a test completed at a testing site selected by the school district. The student will be responsible for the entire cost of testing. The test must be completed within twenty-four hours from the initial specimen collection. The student will be provided reasonable amounts of water for drinking and a two-hour time period to produce an adequate sample. During this time, the student will remain in the vicinity of the collection area and under the observation of the district staff. Refusal to submit to a random screening is considered a positive result. Consequences of such will be the same as a positive screening test result.

## CONSEQUENCES FOR VIOLATING THE OMSD CHEMICAL SCREENING POLICY

#### **FIRST OCCURRENCE**

- 1. Parents will be notified in writing of the results of the official test. If the official test result is positive, the administration will notify the student and parent(s) to discuss the results and consequences. The parent(s) will be provided with information about counseling and drug education programs.
- 2. If the test result is positive, the student will not be allowed to participate in any school-related activity for 30 calendar days. Before, during or after school activity nor be able to drive to school or park on school grounds. The student will then be retested on the 31<sup>st</sup> day following

the initial test. The student must retest with negative results before he/she may participate in any activities.

3. If a student is on probation, Juvenile Services will be informed if a student tests positive.

## SECOND OCCURRENCE

- 1. If the test result of the second test/ second occurrence is a positive, the student will not be allowed to participate in any school-related activity for 365 calendar days from the date of the second positive test. The student will then be retested after 365 days. The student must retest with negative results before he/ she may participate in any activities.
- 2. Same as #2 & #3 under FIRST OCCURRENCE.

#### THIRD OCCURRENCE

- 1. If a student tests positive a third time, he/she will not be allowed to participate in athletics, school clubs, attend after school activity, participate in an extracurricular activity, or be allowed to drive to school for the remainder of his/her tenure at OMSD.
- 2. Same as #2 & #3 under FIRST OCCURRENCE.

#### **CONFIDENTIALITY**

Under the drug testing program, any staff, coach or sponsor of OMSD who may have knowledge of the results of a drug test will not divulge to anyone the results of the test or the disposition of the student involved, other than in the case of a legal subpoena being made upon that person in the course of a legal investigation.

#### **OTHER RULES**

Apart from this drug testing program, OMSD Athletic teams and the coaching staff have their own training rules and requirements. Coaches/sponsors have the necessary authority to enforce those rules. Any student who violates a rule or requirement as a member of a team or activity will also be subject to the consequences as defined in those rules and requirements.

## **Ozark Mountain School District**

# (Form A)

# **Student Chemical Screening Program**

Check one of the following:					
I consent for my child to participate in the random chemical screening policy with OMSD schools for the entirety of the 2024-2025 school year.					
I do not give my consent for my c screening policy with OMSD schools understand failure to participate in th child from participation in extracurric	s. As indicated by my see chemical screening po	ignature below, I			
Student Name (print)	Student Signat	ure			
Parent Signature	 Date	Grade			
If you have any questi	ions, please call the school o	office.			
Return this form to the	office within two weeks of	receipt.			

# **Appendix E**Handbook Signature Form

Act 104 of 1983 requires that parents and students have received and had the opportunity to review the rules and regulations by which a school is governed, and be made aware of behavior that requires disciplinary action and the type of corrective actions that will be imposed.

The Ozark Mountain School District Student/Parent Handbook is available on the district website at <a href="https://ozarkmountainschooldistrict.com">https://ozarkmountainschooldistrict.com</a>.

I have been notified of the location of the 2025-2026 Ozark Mountain School Handbook.

I understand that it is my responsibility to be familiar with the guidelines of the Handbook, the **CHEMICAL SCREENING TEST POLICY**, and to discuss them with my child.

I also acknowledge that I have read and understand the Ozark Mountain School District's **Computer and Internet Use Policy**.

I acknowledge that I have been provided access to the Ozark Mountain School District Student/Parent Handbook for the 2025-2026 school year through the district's online platform/website. I understand that the handbook includes, but is not limited to, information regarding discipline, bus procedures, residency requirements, acceptable use policies, technology use agreement, attendance, homework guidelines, the Title I parent/student compact, and other district policies and procedures. I have reviewed the handbook and understand its contents.

I have read and understand the contents of the Ozark Mountain School District Student Handbook, including student conduct, discipline, attendance policies, and other school policies/procedures. I understand that the student is expected to comply with these policies while at school and during school-sponsored activities. If any portion of the handbook is unclear, I understand that I may contact the school principal for clarification within one week of receiving the handbook.

Please sign and return this form to the school office.

Student Name (Printed)	Grade
Student Signature	Date
Parent/Guardian Signature	Date